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THE YEAR IN REVIEW

2008 - record year for Prevas

KEY INDICATORS

2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4

P R e V A S  g R o U P

net Sales, MSeK 615.7 470.9 278.4 198.3 173.0

net income, MSeK 50.1 11.6 18.7 10.0 13.2

Profit	Margin,	% 11.2 3.6 6.4 5.7 9.4

Equity	ratio,	% 56.7 45.7 60.9 61.4 58.5

Average number of employees 517 448 273 204 169

Sales Per employee, kSeK 1,191 1,051 1,020 982 1,024

STRONG EARNINGS TREND 

•		 Sales	SEK	615.7	(470.9)	million.

•		 EBIT	SEK	70.3	(19.0)	million.

•		 Operating	margin	11.4	(4.0)	percent.

•		 Net	income	SEK	50.1	(11.6)	million.

•		 Earnings	per	share	SEK	5.11(1.22). 

COMPLETED ACQUISITIONS

•		 Emfila	Software	AB	in	Lund,	October	1	A	specialist	company	in	embedded 

 systems and telecommunications. 15 employees.

IMPORTANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

•		 Initiated	an	internal	project	aimed	at	becoming	the	best	place	of	employment 

 in the sector.

•		 Initiated	around	900	new	engagements.

•		 There	is	an	even	distribution	between	different	sectors	and	just	32	percent	of 

 total sales comes from our 5 largest customers. 

•		 General	agreements	are	in	place	with	many	large	customers,	including:	ABB, 

 Aerocrine, Atlas copco, Bombardier, ericsson, FMV, ge healthcare,  

 luftfartsverket, Maquet, SAAB Aerosystems, SMhi and Stoneridge.

•		 Introduced	a	new	offering	during	called	Embedded	Computer	Solutions,	which 

 entails development, product commercialization and delivery of platform- 

 based solutions.

•			Signed	a	global	cooperation	agreement	with	National	Instruments	on	services 

 for their products.

	•		Appointed	as	the	sole	system	integrator	in	the	Nordic	Region	for	Endorsed	 

 Systems integrator of Wonderware. Prevas is one of four companies in europe, 

 of a total of 12 in the world, that have succeeded in achieving this highest level 

 of partnership. 

•		 Nominated	for	the	Swedish	Embedded	Award.	

+ 31 %
Sales totaled  

SEK 616 million.

+ 269 %
eBit was 

SEK 70 million.

+ 319 %
Earnings per share were

SEK 5,11.

Earnings per share, SEK Equity per share, SEK
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Substantially improved earnings was our goal for 

2008. the year was Prevas’ best to date, with excel-

lent growth in combination with an extremely strong 

earnings trend. During the year we strengthened all 

of	our	positions,	both	financially	and	operationally.	

From	a	financial	aspect	we	have	significantly	im-

proved our sales, margins 

and	cash	flow.

From an operational 

aspect in 2008 we have 

further strengthened our 

positions as leaders in the 

nordic region in embed-

ded systems, and one of three in industrial it.

TECHNOLOGY THAT INFLUENCES TRENDS

it needs to be smart, small, quick – and attractive! 

this is a general trend in society, which is particularly 

evident in the sectors such as electronics develop-

ment and industrial systems. communications and 

electronics are nowadays embedded in all types of 

products, and smart it support systems are a compet-

itive advantage. the turbo speed required of the de-

velopment departments is a new trend – they have a 

shorter amount of time 

to develop new and 

more complex products. 

this puts a great deal 

of pressure on compa-

nies that are active in 

a market in which time 

and cost dependency are two of the most important 

competitive parameters. As a direct consequence, 

outsourcing segments of a development project or 

even entire development departments outside the 

company itself has become increasingly common. 

FolloWing A QUARteR oF A centURy oF SUcceSSFUl BUSineSS, PReVAS tooK AnotheR SteP

FoRWARDS in 2008 AnD AchieVeD itS BeSt yeAR eVeR, With heAlthy gRoWth in coMBinAtion 

With A StRong eARningS tRenD. 

Key to success -   

4

focus, expertise and quality

oUR “hoMe 

gRoUnD” iS the 

noRDic Region - the 

WoRlD oUR ARenA
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to a greater extent, machinery and equipment are 

becoming intelligent, and as such, an integral part of 

a coherent production system. industrial companies 

connect with both suppliers and customers in order 

to	achieve	greater	efficiency	in	the	supply	chain.	This	

results in lower manufacturing costs and higher qual-

ity. having a long-term, structured work methodology 

with continuous improvements in both productivity 

and quality is a must.

our business offerings, developing intelligence for 

our customers’ products and streamlining production, 

are	particularly	well	suited	regardless	of	the	financial	

climate	where	efficiency,	expertise	and	time-to-mar-

ket could mean success or failure for many compa-

nies.

ENHANCED 

PARTNERSHIPS

Prevas has a successful 

partner strategy that has 

been further enhanced 

over the year. An exam-

ple	of	this	is	that	Prevas,	as	the	first	and	only	systems	

integrator in the nordic Region – and one of a total 

of 12 in the world – was appoin-ted as an endorsed 

Systems integrator of Wonderware. there are more 

than 500,000 Wonderware licenses installed in around 

100,000 factories globally. our new partner status 

opens the door to more business opportunities, par-

ticularly with international customers that are on the 

verge of a global roll out of their systems. the market, 

where the aim is to raise our customers’ productivity, 

reduce their costs and grow their earnings, is experi-

encing strong growth. For many years now, Prevas has 

been a pioneer in this market, and now has access to 

one of the leading industrial platforms.

A UNIQUE DESIGN HOUSE

i usually point out that Prevas is not an it company 

in the traditional sense, but rather a design house 

driven by dedicated engineers who have the ability 

to produce entirely unique solutions for intelligent 

products and industrial it.

Prevas is also a reliable partner to have onboard 

when the wind starts to bite on the market. no other 

company in our sector can equal our consistent and 

accurate levels of quality and delivery reliability. now 

more than ever, our customers need to be able to rely 

on	delivery	quality	and	financially	sustainable	projects	

– and the peace of mind Prevas can deliver. increas-

ing	profitability	through	intelligent	investments	in	

solutions for productivity and quality enhancement is 

becoming ever more important for our customers.

KNOWLEDGE BANK WITHOUT BORDERS

2009 will see us increasing investment in our ”cen-

ters of excellence”. each ”center of excellence” is 

focused	on	a	specific	area	of	expertise	that	enables	

a high level of specialization and domain knowledge. 

the knowledge bank Prevas has created is scalable 

and without geographical restrictions and can there-

fore be applied to many 

different sectors both 

locally and globally.

BEST PLACE OF 

EMPLOYMENT IN 

THE SECTOR

Prevas shall continue to expand in such a way that 

preserves	profitability.	Our	employees	are	the	most	

important asset the company has. We are therefore 

keen to consolidate our position as the sector’s most 

attractive place of employment where employees 

enjoy their work and want to stay with the company.

INCREASED MARKET SHARE

All	in	all,	the	keys	to	Prevas’	success	are	as	follows:	

growth	with	profitability,	internal	efficiency,	focused	

leadership, committed employees, strategic partner-

ships and outstanding offers in our business areas. 

2009 will be a year full of challenges and opportuni-

ties. i am totally convinced that Prevas, with its strong 

position, will continue to capture market share and 

emerge from 2009 as a winner.

MAtS lUnDBeRg, ceo PReVAS AB

PRoject QUAlity iS 

PReVAS SignAtURe 

FRoM the StARt

A WORD FROM THE CEO



Since its inception in 1985, the company has been 

delivering	customer	benefits	in	the	form	of	profit-

able, future proof solutions. Prevas is listed on the 

nASDAQ oMx nordic exchange, Stockholm. Prevas 

has been a listed company since 1998 and employs 

almost 600 people.

INNOVATIVE DEVELOPMENT PARTNER

A fundamental prerequisite for being able to help 

customers in the best way is to build long-term rela-

tionships with them and have deep insight into their 

businesses. Prevas is active in two business areas, 

Product Development and industrial Systems.

NORDIC LEADER FOR EMBEDDED SYSTEMS

Product development is the process of taking a prod-

uct	concept	through	to	a	finished	product.	In	order	

for products to be successful, development times 

must be kept short and the quality must be right. Pre-

vas offers a variety of services, platforms and building 

blocks	to	develop	intelligent	products	that	are	profit-

able to our customers. Read more on Page 9.

NORDIC LEADER FOR INDUSTRIAL IT

Swedish industry is facing a number of challenges. 

Increasing	profitability	through	intelligent	investments	

in solutions for productivity and quality enhance-

ment is becoming ever more important. Prevas offers 

operational expertise and it solutions combined with 

standard products for all levels of production. Read 

more on Page 9.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Prevas United is the force that unites the company. 

common to all employees is a strong interest in tech-

nology, deriving satisfaction from our work and the 

ability to create value for customers.

DELIVERY RELIABILITY

Project quality has been the Prevas signature from 

the start. As a part of the company’s quality assurance 

system, we constantly measure customer satisfaction, 

delivery reliability and warranty work. As a result of 

such efforts, Prevas has been able to deliver 9 out of 

10 projects on time at the previously agreed upon 

price.	This	is	significantly	better	than	the	industry	

average.

CUSTOMERS

Prevas has an even distribution between different sec-

tors and just 32 percent of total sales comes from our 

5 largest customers, which means that there is a good 

diversification	of	risks	and	a	stable	foundation.

BUSINESS LOCATIONS

our ”home ground” is the nordic region, but Prevas 

has clients from across the entire globe within various 

industries. Prevas has operations at nine different 

locations in Sweden, two in Denmark and one in nor-

way. Prevas is headquartered in Västerås.

AS A MARKet-leADing SUPPlieR in eMBeDDeD SySteMS AnD inDUStRiAl it, PReVAS iS engAgeD 

By coMPAnieS looKing to DeVeloP SMARt PRoDUctS With it content AnD By cUStoMeRS 

Who WAnt to StReAMline oR AUtoMAte theiR BUSineSS.

Excellence in Technology

PREVAS ORGANISATION

CEO

Business Developer

CFO/Administrative Manager

Quality Manger

Business Area
Product Development

Business Area
Industrial Systems

Sweden:		 Gothenburg,	Linköping, 
	 	 Lund,	Malmö,	Stockholm,	 
  Uppsala, Västerås
Denmark:	Copenhagen,	Århus

Sweden:		 Gothenburg,	Helsingborg,	 
	 	 Karlstad,	Malmö,	Västerås
Norway:	 Oslo

Sales & Marketing

6
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VISION

leadership in product development and industrial it. 

BUSINESS CONCEPT 

Prevas	fulfills	customer	demands	for	innovative	and	

quality assured it services, solutions, and products 

that give our customers a world-class competitive 

edge.

STRATEGY AND POSITIONING

in order to achieve our vision and goals, we have 

chosen	to	pursue	the	following	strategies:

Market
•		 Prevas	is	to	be	a	leading	force	within	its	business 
 areas, and will focus its efforts on ”centers of 
 excellence”, at which Prevas will be a market-leader.
•		 We	define	our	target	customer	groups	and	deter- 
 mine which companies can achieve customer be- 
	 nefits	through	the	products	and	services	that	we 
 offer.
•		 Familiarity	with	our	customers’	business,	entrepre-
  neurial spirit, and the highest possible service level 
 and dedication will help Prevas create cost- 
	 efficient	and	profitable	solutions.
•		 Our	customers	should	always	find	us	receptive	to 
 their ideas and easy to work with.
•		 Sales	shall	be	conducted	through	direct	contact 
 with customers in order to achieve fruitful, long- 
 term relationships.
•		 Our	sales	activities	shall	be	supported	by	carefully 
 selected marketing and PR activities.
•		 Increased	internationalization	via	our	customers, 
 collaborative partners and our own direct sales.
•		 With	the	help	of	strong	partner	relationships,	 
 Prevas will offer customers overall commitment.

Financial

•	Prevas	shall	have	sustained	profitability	with	a	mini- 

 mum operating margin of 10 percent over a  

 business cycle.

•		 Prevas	shall	achieve	organic	growth	that	is	com- 

 plemented by strategic acquisitions. Annual 

 growth shall be a minimum of 15 percent during  

 one business cycle.

Employees

•		 In	order	to	attract,	recruit,	and	retain	skilled	 

 employees, Prevas shall offer the industry’s best 

 workplace.

•		 Prevas	shall	offer	planned	skills	development	and 

 tasks that allow employees to develop. 

•		 The	corporate	culture	at	Prevas	shall	be	characte- 

 rized by our businesslike manner, open- 

 mindedness, willingness to take responsibility, and 

 team spirit.

•		 Leadership	at	Prevas	shall	be	characterized	by 

 openness, dialogue, participation, and straight- 

 forward communication.

Processer

•		 Prevas	shall	increase	customer	benefits	by	utilizing 

	 finished	platforms	and	modules	with	efficient 

 development processes. this means that we can 

 offer our customers a faster implementation  

 process with higher quality.

•		 Through	a	world-class	project	implementation	pro- 

	 cess,	documented	by	fixed	quality	standards,	 

 Prevas will make a competitive, safe choice for 

 customers when procuring projects.

•		 Investment	value	is	ensured	through	our	effective 

 integration of acquired companies.

.

Vision, Business Concept, Strategy

PREVAS DEVELOPMENT

1985 the company begins.

1992	 ISO	9001	certified.

1994 Acquistion; Montera Automation.

1998 Acquistions; FMS, Profac, trinova and Rasyko. 
  list on the stock exchange.

2000 SFc acquired from ericsson infotech.

2002 Acquistion; ice.

2003	 ISO	9001:2000	certified.

2005 Acquistions; Precon and consulting business  
  from Flextronics.

2006 Acquistions; glaze and Avantel.

2007 Acquistions; teleca life Science, teleca embedded 
  Solutions, io technologies A/S, Realfast hardware 
  consulting, Flextronics Design Kista, Advanced 
  Process control, optilution, Mikon AS, Kasmatic 
	 	 Innovation	A/S	and	Flextronics	Design	Göteborg.

2008	 Acquistion;	Emfila	Software.
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EMMA HEDBERG, FINANCIAL ASSISTANT IN VÄSTERÅS. 
”My joB At PReVAS iS conStAntly DeVeloPing.
My WoRK DUtieS ARe AlWAyS chAnging AnD neW 
AReAS oF ReSPonSiBility ARe Being ADDeD. A Feeling 
oF Belonging AnD WoRK SAtiSFAction ARe the BeSt 
thingS ABoUt PReVAS. AlthoUgh We MAy noW Be 
A lARge coMPAny, We Still enjoy the Feeling oF 
A SMAll teAM. eVeRyBoDy KnoWS eAch otheR AnD 
neW StAFF ARe QUicKly AccePteD into the gAng.”

ANDERS GULLIKSSON, 
SOFTWARE DEVELOPER UPPSALA. 
”WoRKing At PReVAS iS An eMPoWeRing exPeRience. 
We ARe lARge, eStABliSheD AnD hAVe A gooD geo-
gRAPhicAl SPReAD in the noRDic Region AnD We Will 
nAtURAlly Be WoRKing to MAintAin oUR PoSition in 
the FUtURe. RelAtionS With conSUltAntS ARe excel-
lent AnD oUR cUStoMeRS VieW US AS A long-teRM 
PARtneR With toP exPeRtiSe AnD coMMittMent to 
oFFeR theiR BUSineSS.”
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PREVAS’ OPERATION

THE PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT 

BUSINESS AREA

Increased complexity in products 

the introduction of intelligence in products is increas-

ing rapidly, partly because of the necessary shift in 

technology and partly because of the increasingly 

shorter life cycles of the products. Prevas’ position as 

the nordic Region’s leading supplier for the develop-

ment of intelligent products gives us a strong position 

on an expanding future market. Since it started 

operations in 1985, Prevas has developed more than 

2,000 intelligent products that have helped bring 

success to many of our clients. industries where we 

are active include life science, manufacturing industry, 

defense and automotive.

Intelligent products

Prevas’ offering in product development covers the 

entire development cycle with expertise in everything 

from operational know-how to individual specialist 

skills. With respect to operational know-how, Prevas 

has established centers of excellence and specialist 

expertise covers everything from mechanics, electron-

ics and software to project management.

 customers can augment their own projects using 

Prevas’ specialist expertise or develop the products in 

Prevas’ own laboratories and premises. We also offer 

the possibility of managing the entire production 

process	and	delivering	finished	volume	products	to	

our customers.

 in order to speed up the development process, 

Prevas has a range of in-house platforms that we can 

incorporate into our solutions.

Read more on what Prevas has to offer in this area at 

www.prevas.com/product development.

THE INDUSTRIAL SYSTEMS BUSINESS AREA.

The Industry’s Choice for Profitable IT

Increasing	profitability	through	intelligent	investments	

in solutions for productivity and quality enhance-

ment is becoming ever more important for industrial 

companies. Since its inception in1985, Prevas has 

delivered over 1,000 solutions that have helped our 

customers	increase	their	profitability.	Examples	of	in-

dustries where we are active include pharmaceuticals 

and food, steel and minerals, manufacturing industry, 

electronics industry and the automotive industry.

Intelligent systems

Prevas’ industrial systems business area is a natu-

ral partner when customers are looking to improve 

production	efficiency.	When	industrial	companies	are	

looking for solutions in the areas of Automation, MeS 

(Manufacturing	Execution	Systems)	and	EMI	(Enter-

prise	Manufacturing	Intelligence)	we	are	the	obvious	

partner.	In	addition	to	our	finished	solutions,	we	not	

only deliver services such as project management, 

system development and system support, but also 

feasibility studies carried out by our productivity ex-

perts. We deliver all of this as either turnkey projects 

or as a part of the customer’s own investment project.

Read more on what Prevas has to offer in this area at 

www.prevas.com/industrial systems.

PReVAS iS A SPeciAliSt coMPAny thAt hAS cUtting eDge SKillS in eMBeDDeD SySteMS AnD 

inDUStRiAl it. the coMPAny iS inVeSting in it SeRViceS in coMBinAtion With FiniSheD PlAt-

FoRMS, MoDUleS AnD PRoDUctS.

Industry’s future projects



Development of new smart products
It is of the utmost importance that the new unit oper-
ates in the same way as previous generations in order 
to avoid the risk of problems when updating existing 
environments.

Future proof and backward compatibility were guid-
ing words when ABB commissioned Prevas to de-
velop an entirely new communications module for use 
in two generations of control system for the process 
industry.
 ABB has long been one of the world’s principal 
suppliers of systems for effective and reliable automa-
tion, control and monitoring of industrial and process 
equipment. one of the platforms in the range is 
industrial it 800xA. here you have the module, real 
time accelerator, that serves as a protocol translator 
between the software on the operator’s workstation 
and the control network that connects the target 
systems.
 it has been important to point out to clients that 
the key to a successful project is not high technical 
skills alone, even though this is naturally an essential 
piece	of	the	puzzle.	There	are	many	proficiencies,	not	
just technical, that are necessary in order for a project 
of this complexity to work. Prevas has shown that 
it can handle all parts of a project and has kept the 
whole project together and delivered on time.

After more than eight years of research and product 
development, the concept of interactive playgrounds 
is now a reality. The interactive dimension plays a 
huge part.

the company Kompan has been developing and 
selling playgrounds across the world for 40 years. 
Following several years of intensive and innovative 
cooperation	with	Prevas,	Kompan	has	identified	the	
formula for the playground of the future. this has 
been named icon.
 By using new technology, the aim has been to 
create a modern workplace for young people. the 
interactive playground can be compared to nin-
tendo Wii where the screen has been replaced by 
the playground. you hunt for a sound or a color in 
competition with each other, a competition against 
the product. the challenge is based on time, strategy 
and performance, which at the same time strengthens 
mobility and skills. the target group for the interac-
tive playground is children between the ages of 10 
and 15. the great challenge was to develop a solution 
that was not too complex, while at the same time tak-
ing the weather, wind and sunlight into consideration 
as the embedded system is to be used outdoors.
through their fund ”Make it Right”, the US actors, 
Brad Pitt and Angelina jolie, have purchased an icon 
playground for new orleans. it will belong to one of 
the residential districts that was constructed after the 
destruction of hurricane Katrina in 2005.

10



Development of new smart products
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All product development puts demands on conduct-
ing tests quickly and efficiently. Two particularly criti-
cal factors are the complexity of the product and the 
time to market.

More and more companies employ the help of 
external suppliers by creating a test environment for 
system and product testing. Prevas has more than 15 
years of experience in developing test environments 
for companies like Volvo Buses, Volvo trucks, Volvo 
Aero and ericsson.
 When Volvo Aero updates the software for aircraft 
engines	on	the	Gripen	fighter	jet,	it	is	expensive	and	
sometimes impossible to test all functions in an actual 
situation. For this reason, extensive testing must be 
carried out in an environment that is true to reality 
in a simulated setting; in this case the jet engine. 
An increasingly popular test method is known as 
Hardware-in-the-loop	(HIL).	By	simulating	the	physi-
cal behavior of the engines, robots etc. you can test 
advanced electronics in an effective way from both a 
financial	and	risk	aspect.
 only a few test systems are constructed, so it 
simply	makes	no	financial	sense	to	produce	in-house	
developed components. For reasons of time and 
cost, all Prevas test systems are based, as far as pos-
sible, on standard products and an open architecture.

PERCENTAGE OF SALES 2008

25 % industrial Systems Business Area

75 % Product Development Business Area

EXAMPLES OF CUSTOMERS 

Assa Abloy, Atlas copco, Autoliv, Flextronics, Flir  

Systems, gambro, ge healthcare, gn netcom A/S, 

grundfos A/S, gunnebo, husqvarna, interspiro, leine & 

linde, Micronic, novo nordisk A/S, oticon A/S, Panasonic, 

SAAB Aerosystems,  Stoneridge electronics, tAc, Vestas 

A/S, Volvo lastvagnar

QUICK FACTS, PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

BUSINESS LOCATIONS 

Sweden:				Gothenburg,	Linköping,	Lund,	Malmö,	 

               Stockholm, Uppsala, Västerås

Denmark:		Copenhagen,	Århus

 EXAMPLES CUSTOMER PROJECTS 

MICHAEL BLICHFELDT, 
SENIOR PROJECT MANAGER COPENHAGEN. 
”All PRojectS ARe DiFFeRent. not jUSt technicAl-
ly BUt AlSo in the PRoject gRoUP AnD in cUSto-
MeR RelAtionS. it iS chAllenging AnD enjoyABle 
to exPeRience theSe DiFFeRenceS. the WoRK heRe 
iS neVeR BoRing. eVeRyone hAS the PoSSiBility oF 
inFlUencing theiR WoRK DUtieS Both in theiR cUR-
Rent PRoject BUt AlSo in the next one.”



Guiding words for industrial companies  are productivity and quality
When you start your car and drive to work you prob-

ably rarely think about how your car came into the 

world. But there is a long and complex production 

process behind a car ride that has to be safe and 

functional.

Getrag All Wheel Drive is extremely successful with 

respect to producing systems for four-wheel drive 

cars and wheel suspensions for passenger car manu-

facturers like Ford, Volvo and land Rover. A close and 

longstanding partnership with Prevas is a key compo-

nent of getrag’s competitive ability, which is based on 

effective production methods and stringent inventory 

control.

 together the two companies have developed the 

production and inventory system that getrag uses. 

the global competition in manufacturing industry is 

fierce	and	is	constantly	placing	demands	on	sup-

plier	quality,	flexibility	and	productivity.	Getrag	uses	

a	module	based	system	to	control	the	entire	flow	of	

material from receiving raw materials, inventory, pro-

cessing, assembly and packing. getrag uses Prevas’ 

LIPS-system	(Logistics	in	Production	System).	It	is	a	

system that rationalizes all inventory processes and 

makes	Getrag	very	efficient.

Heating steel is a process that consumes an extreme 

amount of energy. Effective control of the reheating 

furnace therefore requires the very best productivity, 

quality and energy consumption.  

When the Finnish steel company Rautaruukki Oy was 

to renew its furnace control system and upgrade its 

heating furnaces they turned to Prevas. the commis-

sion included replacing the furnace control system 

with reheating furnaces using Prevas’ in-house devel-

oped system, FocS-RF. today, this system that is re-

garded by many as the leading system on the market 

for optimizing all aspects of heating steel ingots. 

 through its work with the industrial organization 

jernkontoret and Metallurgical Research institute AB, 

Prevas has developed the FocS-RF software. At the 

same time as productivity and quality improves, the 

system is able to achieve energy savings of between 5 

and 10 percent.
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GUSTAV WOLRATH, PROGRAM MANAGER SOLNA. 
”My Role At PReVAS iS entRePReneURiAl.
i WoRK on DeVeloPing PRoDUct AnD PlAtFoRM 
BASeD concePtS FoR the PURPoSe oF MAKing PRe-
VAS A MoRe coMPlete SUPPlieR oF SolUtionS.
heRe i hAVe the BeneFit oF Mixing technicAl 
iSSUeS With Both MAnAgeMent iSSUeS AnD BUSi-
neSS chAllengeS. QUite SiMPly, An incReDiBly 
StiMUlAting joB.”

JOAKIM HERMANSSON, CONSULTANT VÄSTERÅS.
”the BeSt thing With PReVAS iS the Feeling AnD 
the KnoWleDge thAt yoU ARe WoRKing At A SUc-
ceSSFUl coMPAny. in WinteR We PlAy FlooRBAll 
AnD ice hocKey togetheR. the highlight oF the 
SeASon iS the PReVAS’ AnnUAl MAtcheS AgAinSt 
the otheR oFFiceS.”



Guiding words for industrial companies  are productivity and quality
Using powerful search and analysis tools, you can get 

a quick overview of one or more plants. You can also 

quickly navigate to individual pieces of equipment.

Noreco is a norwegian company that prospects, 

develops and produces oil and gas in the north Sea. 

Since its inception in 2005, the company has grown 

quickly and is today norway’s second largest oil 

company.

	 Noreco	is	not	the	operator	in	the	fields,	but	

receives production reports from Statoilhydro, 

talisman, Dong, Maersk and hess. the production 

reports make up a vital platform for the day-to-day 

follow up of the company’s production from all of its 

seven	fields.

 noreco has chosen to initiate its partnership with 

Prevas in order to have an automated and updated 

reporting system. the system, enterprise Asset 

Reporting, gives noreco the option of actively and 

continually	monitoring	the	fields.	In	this	way	Noreco	

enjoys better insight into its production and thereby 

gains	a	better	understanding	of	revenue	flows.	Being	

able to avoid a lot of manual work and many fault 

sources is an added bonus.

PERCENTAGE OF SALES 2008

EXAMPLES OF CUSTOMERS 

ABB, Astra tech, Borregaard industrier ltd, Danisco, 

Dong energy oil & gas AS, ericsson, Fresenius-Kabi, icA, 

outokumpu,  Sandvik, Scania, SSAB, Statoilhydro ASA, 

Westinghouse electric, Volvo  

QUICK FACTS, INDUSTRIAL SYSTEMS

BUSINESS LOCATIONS 

Sweden:				Gothenburg,	Helsingborg,	Karlstad,	Malmö, 

               Västerås

Norway:					Oslo
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25 % industrial Systems Business Area

75 % Product Development Business Area

EXAMPLES CUSTOMER PROJECTS 



68 %

9 %
8 %

8 %

other

Saab	(defense)

3	%,	ABB

4	%,	Atlas	Copco

Volvo

5 LARGEST CUSTOMERS IN 2008 
PREVAS GROUP

ericsson

engineering22 %

15 %

15 %
6 %

12 %

life Science

telecom

energy

otherVehicle

SALES BY SECTOR 2008, 
PREVAS GROUP

17 %

Defense

13 %
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The IT consultancy sector is strong 
despite the dramatic economic 
downturn 
the long AnticiPAteD econoMic DoWntURn cAMe DURing the FAll oF 2008 AS A conSeQUence oF 

the BAnKing cRiSiS. hoWeVeR, the iMPAct in the it SectoR hAS So FAR Been negligiBle With the ex-

cePtion oF the BAnKing AnD AUtoMotiVe SectoRS.

GENERAL MARKET ANALYSIS
the economic downturn in the fall has led in particu-
lar to a drop in consumer purchases of capital goods. 
In	addition,	there	is	significantly	less	access	to	capital	
for investments. Redundancies have been com-
monplace for many companies in Sweden as well as 
globally. the parts of the consultancy sector that have 
primarily been working with the automotive industry 
and	banking/financial	sectors	have	taken	a	direct	hit.	
in general, the industry-oriented part of the it consul-
tancy sector has not been impacted in the same way. 
Sectors such as energy, environment, infrastructure 
and life science have instead enjoyed a very strong 
market over the period.

MARKET TREND PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT
customer needs for developing new competitive 
products with a large content of electronics and 
software are rising continually and spreading to 
more and more sectors. one example of this is the 
automotive industry. it is facing new challenges in 
producing	more	fuel-efficient	engines.	The	solution	to	
this problem is nowadays quick microprocessors and 
intelligent software. Streamlining the work processes 
for development and testing are also in focus. Prevas 
has expanded its product offerings and its partner-
ship with the world-leading company, national instru-
ments, has resulted in a number of strategic orders 
focused on test systems.
 Because of the economice downturn, many of our 
customers are faced with increasing requirements to 
control costs and reduce risk exposure. More inqui-
ries are being received from companies interested in 
outsourcing comprehensive undertakings with well-
defined	budgets	and	time	limitations.	Prevas’	proven	
history in project deliveries means the company has 
great potential for delivering more projects.

MARKET  TREND INDUSTRIAL SYSTEMS
the industrial systems business area is working on 
streamlining the customers’ production processes 
and delivering it solutions in the area. customer 
focus on streamlining measures has grown during the 
year, but the pace slowed slightly as a result of the 
financial	crisis.	Projects-in-progress	have	been	com-

pleted without any interruptions. however, decisions 
on certain large-scale investments have been delayed 
due to uncertainty in the market. As the situation 
in	banking/finance	stabilizes,	the	rate	of	customer	
investment will increase.
 over the year, Prevas has made breakthroughs at 
many new customers with projects in manufactur-
ing control systems that are based on Wonderware 
and using the FocS system, which optimizes energy 
consumption in steelwork furnaces.

CUSTOMERS
Prevas’ customers are evenly distributed in many 
sectors. in 2008, Prevas has increased market share 
particularly in the energy, telecommunications, auto-
motive, defense and steel industries.

COMPETITORS
Prevas is the leading and largest actor in embedded 
systems among consultants in the nordic Regions, 
with almost twice as many employees as the nearest 
competitor. For the industrial Systems business area, 
the	profiles	of	competitors	are	more	varied	and	diffi-
cult to compare to Prevas’ operations, which are more 
focused on manufacturing control systems.
 in the Product Development business area, com-
petitors include combitech, cybercom, Data-
Respons and tietoenator.
 in the industrial Systems business area, competitors 
include	Logica,	Novotek,	Norwegian	Cronus	and	ÅF.

FUTURE PROSPECTS
Prevas has, following its previously extremely strong 
growth, focused on consolidating company acqui-
sitions and streamlining internal processes. this 
strategy has been very successful over the prevailing 
market situation. Prevas’ service and product portfolio 
combined with the ability to drive successful proj-
ects will be key factors for increasing market share 
over the coming years. During the last 24 years of 
the company’s existence, Prevas has been extremely 
skilful at utilizing the upswings that follow economic 
downturns in order to grow and consolidate its mar-

ket position.

MARKET OVERVIEW



Industrial sectors 
ENGINEERING

Prevas has been working with customers in engineer-

ing since its inception, and has always enjoyed a very 

strong position. the lion’s share of Prevas’ offerings in 

this sector is focused on automating and streamlining 

production, for which there is an increased demand 

during periods of recession. Prevas is one of the fore-

runners in the sector with respect to it systems for 

flexible	production	cells,	control	of	automated	inven-

tory and material management systems and master 

systems for follow-up of production and availability. 

Examples	of	customers:	ABB,	Atlas	Copco,	Sandvik,	

tAc.

DEFENSE

Prevas’ single largest customer, SAAB Aerosystems, is 

active in the defense industry. over the years, Prevas 

has built up a very close relationship with SAAB and 

it primarily supplies technical consultancy services in 

software and systems.

 the defense industry has been extremely strong in 

the global slow down and we predict the future trend 

will be better than many other sectors.

Examples	of	customers:	BAE	Systems,	Exensor	Tech-

nology, FMV, SAAB Aerosystems.

LIFE SCIENCE

life Science is relatively sensitive to economic cycles. 

the need of healthcare is increasing each year while 

at the same time the need of cost savings is increas-

ing. this means product companies must constantly 

generate	new	and	more	efficient	solutions.	Prevas	has	

a leading position in the development of advanced 

instruments for diagnostics and therapy. over the 

years, Prevas has developed several prize-winning 

products for customers in the nordic Region, europe 

and the US. in 2008, Prevas has secured product 

development deals in england, germany and the 

nordic Region. Prevas also has a unique solution for 

traceability in the pharmaceutical industry, the Prevas 

Snitcher Medical product, which has been installed at 

a number of customers over the past year.

Examples	of	customers:	Astra	Tech,	Biotage,	GE	

healthcare, Maquet critical care, nobel Biocare, 

novo nordisk, Sectra Mamea.

16
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MARKET OVERVIEW

TELECOMMUNICATIONS

the trend that more and more pieces of apparatus 

must be on-line is continuing. Prevas is a leader in the 

nordic Region in embedded systems and most of the 

products	that	Prevas	is	developing	have	a	significant	

content of communication solutions. Prevas also has 

a strong product portfolio with it systems for trace-

ability, quality follow up and logistics management in 

electronics	production	that	is	used	specifically	for	pro-

duction of equipments such as radio base stations.

Many of the larger telecom companies have a 

relatively strong position in the prevailing economic 

downturn and are continuing to invest in new plat-

forms which will generate more business opportuni-

ties for Prevas both in product development and in 

production.

Examples	of	customers:	Axis	Communications,	Erics-

son, Sectra communications, telenor.

VEHICLE

the automotive industry has been hit hard by the 

weak	financial	situation,	which	has	also	created	dif-

ficulties	for	the	sector’s	sub-suppliers.	In	2008,	Prevas	

captured market share primarily due to its world-class 

offerings in the area of test system development.

Prevas has deliveries in progress in the develop-

ment of advanced test systems, both in Sweden and 

abroad. During an economic downturn, it becomes 

increasingly important to streamline and save costs. 

here Prevas has a very strong offering.

Examples	of	customers:	Bombardier	Transportation,	

getrag All Wheel Drive, Scania, Volvo trucks.

ENERGY

the energy sector remains in a substantial growth 

cycle	and	we	see	a	continued	need	to	find	solutions	

for cleaner energy production and reduced energy 

consumption. Prevas has grown its market share by 

securing a number of new deals in 2008.

Examples	of	customers:	Forsmarks	kraftgrupp,	Lundin	

oil, Vestas, Westinghouse.

STEEL AND MINERALS

the Swedish steel industry holds a strong position on 

the global market in selected niches. growth in the 

market slowed at the end of the year, but the underly-

ing strength in the companies means that investment 

plans will remain on course through 2009.

Prevas delivers systems for streamlining production. 

this includes offering optimization systems for reheat-

ing furnaces for rolling mills, which gives our custom-

ers a dramatic return on their investment.

Examples	of	customers:	Outokumpu,	Rautaruukki	Oy,	

SSAB.
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Our employees
coMMon to All PReVAS eMPloyeeS iS DeRiVing gReAt PleASURe FRoM oUR WoRK, A Keen inteReSt in 

technology AnD FocUSing on WhAt iS BeSt FoR the cUStoMeR. WoRKing togetheR UnDeR SoUnD 

ciRcUMStAnceS BUilDS high ethicS AnD enSUReS thAt eVeRyone tReAtS eAch otheR With ReSPect. 

PReVAS eMPloyeeS enjoy going to WoRK eAch DAy AnD Feel thAt they Belong to A teAM. 

the corporate culture at Prevas is a cohesive force 

and an important piece of the puzzle in terms of 

teamwork. it is important that everyone feels comfort-

able and at ease. this enables the company to offer 

its customers an entire team of employees who can 

take responsibility and accomplish world-class results.

A YEAR OF INTEGRATION

2008 has been the year when acquisitions from the 

past two years have been integrated and adapted 

into one PReVAS – a Prevas United. getting all 

employees to be aware of and accept Prevas’ basic 

values has been a challenge. one that we have 

succeeded very well with. According to employee 

surveys, it is evident that the majority of employees 

feel they have been well-received at Prevas and feel 

highly committed.

BEST PLACE OF 

EMPLOYMENT IN THE INDUSTRY

in order for the company to have a coherent picture 

of the initiatives that are to be prioritized, a well-

developed employee survey is conducted each year. 

the purpose of the survey is to gain insight into the 

employee attitudes regarding Prevas as an employer 

and identify the relevant working conditions. the 

results of the survey make up important supporting 

documentation in the work on developing Prevas and 

reaching the position as the best workplace in the 

sector. the outcome of the survey is compiled by an 

external supplier in order to guarantee anonymity.

PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT

it is quite natural to think about what is best for our 

employees and consider their opinions. one way 

for the company and immediate supervisors to get 

feedback from every employee is by having annual 

meetings	(PD	appraisals)	between	managers	and	

employees. PD stands for Personal Development. 

In	this	appraisal,	each	manager	follows	a	specific	

template which gives employees a great opportunity 

to highlight what they consider to be important. each 

employee has at least one planned PD appraisal with 

his/her immediate boss per year.



19

EXPERTISE AND COMMITTMENT

Prevas is a know-how company delivering expertise 

to our customers. We are very proud of our excellent 

knowledge that we have accumulated in the com-

pany’s organization. We maintain a high theoretical 

knowledge level and have an experience base that is 

absolutely invaluable.

We know the technology and we also have experi-

ence from working with our customers’ operations. 

Furthermore, we have something that is a little more 

difficult	to	put	into	words.	The	factor	that	means	that	

you always deliver that little ”something extra” and 

feel a sense of responsibility for achieving successful 

results. Prevas has committed employees!

We are all included and generate a corporate culture 

that is based on a strong, common interest for tech-

nology and partnership, openness and commitment.

RECRUITMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

Prevas naturally wants to retain and expand its ex-

pertise! Prevas employees are attractive on the labor 

market and we would like them to stay at the com-

pany. We also want to be the natural choice for those 

looking for new challenges. in order to put the focus 

on areas such as recruitment and skills development, 

Prevas has expanded its hR function over the year. By 

working actively and professionally on recruitment, 

Prevas can attract future employees. exciting projects, 

know-how transfer and training mean the company is 

continuing to develop and keep on the cutting edge 

of technology.

HEALTHY EMPLOYEES

Physical and psychological well-being, a balanced 

life and work satisfaction are necessary for being able 

to give maximum performance. By having a close 

cooperation with the occupational health services, 

Prevas is able to prevent ill-health and keep sickness 

absence low. Prevas offers wellness subsidies and has 

developed its own training ladder as a way of moti-

vating physical activity in a simple way. over the year 

we have developed the option of health promoting 

activities by offering household-related services via 

gross salary allowances.

    

KEY INDICATORS, EMPLOYEES

Total 548 employees as of 2008-12-31

Denmark	15	%		

Sweden	83	%

Norway	2	%

Distribution between women and men 
as of 2008-12-31

Women	12	%

Men	88	%

PREVAS EMPLOYEES

Competence Profile        

System	Science	18	%

other Academic   
background	17	%

Other	Education	11	%

Doctor	of	Engineering	5	%

Master of 
engineering
49	%
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CAPITAL STOCK
Registered capital as of 31 December  2008 was SeK 
24,897,525, made up of 9,959,010 shares, of which 
820,160 shares were class A and 9,138,850 shares 
were class B.
 each share holds an equal right to the company as-
sets	and	profit.	Each	Class	A	share	entitles	the	holder	
to ten votes at the Annual general Meeting, whereas 
each class B share entitles the holder to one vote at 
the Annual general Meeting.
 At the Annual general Meeting on 28 March 2007, 
Prevas’ Board of Directors was once again given the 
authority to issue new shares, with the exception of 
existing stockholders’ preferential rights. the autho-
rization was for a maximum of 973,600 class B shares 
to be used in connection with new acquisitions. Dur-
ing 2008, the Board exercised its authority to issue 
new	shares	(as	per	the	2008	AGM)	in	conjunction	with	
one new acquisition. As part of the acquisition of 
Emfila	Software	AB	in	October	of	2008,	the	Board	au-
thorized the emission of 106,733 new class B shares.

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PROGRAM
At the general meeting of stockholders on March 20, 
2002, an employee stock option program totaling 
375,000 employee options and 125,000 other options 
was approved.  All of Prevas’ employees are entitled 
to participate in the program.
 each employee option entitles the holder to 
purchase one newly-emitted Prevas B-share during 
the period May 15, 2003 through May 31, 2009. the 

issue price is SeK 15 per share, which is based on the 
average price paid per share during the period March 
6-19, 2002.
 During 2008, a total of 85,700 new shares were 
issued as part of the employee stock option program. 
At the end of 2008, there were 155,500 outstanding 
options	that	could	be	exercised	at	100%	along	with	
51,315 other options.
 the aim of the scheme is to create a sense of 
involvement throughout the company in the earnings 
trend and thereby help retain expertise. More infor-
mation about the program, along with its terms and 
conditions is available in note 4.

DIVIDENDS
Prevas’ dividend policy is based on the goal to dis-
tribute	approximately	half	of	the	profits	after	tax	to	its	
stockholders as dividends.  Such decision must also, 
however, be based on a review of the total amount 
of non-restricted equity and available cash assets. 
Prevas’ Board of Directors proposes to the AgM a 
dividend	of	SEK	1.50	(0.60)	per	share	for	the	2008	
financial	year.	This	proposal	is	based	on	the	desire	
to maintain a strong balance sheet, give appropriate 
consideration to an uncertain market climate in 2009 
and make it possible for the group to take advan-
tage of new investment opportunities. the proposed 
amount	to	be	paid	out	as	dividends	is	SEK	14.9	(5.8	)	
million, which corresponds to 30 percent of the com-

pany’s	net	profit.	

Earnings per share + 319 %
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DEVELOPMENT OF PREVAS STOCK  
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Stockholder structure
Number 

shareholder
Number Class 

A shares
Number Class 

B shares Holdings, % Votes, %

S t o c K h o l D i n g S  A S  o F  2 0 0 8 - 1 2 - 3 1
1 – 500 1,731 – 341,211 3.43 1.97

501 – 1 000 398 – 339,158 3.41 1.96

1 001 – 2000 176 – 299,781 3.01 1.73

2 001 – 5 000 157 – 542,525 5.45 3.13

5 001 – 10 000 56 19,200 420,855 4.42 3.53

10 001 – 20 000 32 17,280 456,407 4.76 3.63

20 001 – 50 000 28 54,400 824,851 8.83 7.89

50 001 – 90 000 6 65,280 321,475 3.88 5.62

90 001 – 16 664,000 5 592,587 62.82 70.54

Total 2,600 820,160 9,138,850 100.00 100.00

Stockholders
Number of 

A shares
Number of 

B shares
Total Number 

 of shares Holdings, % Votes, %

the 10 lARgeSt oWneRS 2008-12-31  
Göran	Lundin	with	family 150,000 2,550,540 2,700,540 27.12 23.36

Länsförsäkringar	Bergslagen 250,000 1,044,100 1,294,100 12.99 20.44

Björn	Andersson 100,000 232,000 332,000 3.33 7.10

Per lysholt 100,000 200,000 300,000 3.01 6.92

Stieg Westin 64,000 49,000 113,000 1.13 3.97

Mats	Björkelund 65,280 2,000 67,280 0.68 3.78

Länsförsäkringar	funds – 464,910 464,910 4.67 2.68

Kerstin Danielsson 32,000 – 32,000 0.32 1.85

insurance company, Avanza Pension – 234,670 234,670 2.36 1.35

Anders hallqvist 22,400 – 22,400 0.22 1.29

other Stockholders 36,480 4,361,630 4,398,110 44.16 27.26

Total 820,160 9,138,850 9,959,010 100.00 100.00

Stock Information 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4

K e y  i n D i c A t o R S
Profit	Per	Share	before	Dilution,	SEK 5.11 1.22 2.17 1.24 1.66

equity Per Share before Dilution, SeK 18.20 13.04 10.60 8.11 7.09

Dividend Per Share, SeK 1.50 0.60 1.00 0.50 0.50

Stock Price at year end, SeK 19.80 20.00 28.40 23.40 21.60

Average number of Shares traded Per Day 26,038 22,093 21,329 15,083 10,285

number Unrestricted class A Shares at year end 820,160 820,160 820,160 820,160 820,160

number Unrestricted class B Shares at year end 9,138,850 8,916,417 7,898,590 7,402,440 7,162,440

total number Shares at year end 9,959,010 9,736,577 8,718,750 8,222,600 7,982,600

*

PREVAS STOCK  

* Proposed dividend
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Five-Year Summary
FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Quarterly Income Statements
2 0 0 8 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 7

MSEK Q  4 Q  3 Q  2 Q  1 Q  4 Q  3 Q  2 Q  1

operating income 159.9 134.3 167.8 153.7 138.8 97.6 117.9 116.6

capitalized Work 1.7 0.7 0.7 0.1 1.1 1.7 1.2 1.0

other external costs –37.8 –31.9 –32.3 –30.2 –31.4 –22.4 –23.8 –21.9

Personnel costs –105.9 –85.8 –108.3 –103.6 –100.0 –71.4 –88.3 –79.7

Depreciation and impairment –3.1 –3.3 –3.2 –3.2 –6.5 –4.2 –3.9 –3.4

EBIT 14.8 14.0 24.7 16.8 2.0 1.3 3.1 12.6

Operating	margin,	% 9.3 10.4 14.7 11.0 1.5 1.3 2.7 10.8

*	Profit/loss	from	discontinued	operations	has	not	been	restated	for	comparative	year	2004.

MSEK 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4

SUMMARy incoMe StAteMentS
net Sales 615.7 470.9 278.4 198.3 173.0

operating expenses –545.4 –451.9 –260.6 –189.5 –156.8

EBIT 70.3 19.0 17.8 8.8 16.2

net Financial items –1.4 –2.2 –0.1 2.5 –

Profit/Loss before Tax 69.9 16.8 17.7 11.3 16.2

tax –18.8 –5.2 –4.1 –2.8 –3.0

Profit/Loss from Continuing Operations 50.1 11.6 13.6 8.5 13.2

Profit/Loss	from	Discontinued	Operations* – – 5.1 1.5

Profit/Loss for the Year 50.1 11.6 18.7 10.0 13.2

MSEK 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4

SUMMARy BAlAnce SheetS
intangible Assets 130.8 122.5 47.2 29.7 16.4

Property, Plant and equipment 15.1 16.4 11.2 24.4 24.3

Financial Fixed Assets 0.9 1.9 1.8 1.5 4.8

current Receivables 156.4 129.6 74.6 49.7 44.0

cash equivalents including short-term investments 16.7 7.4 17.1 3.4 7.3

Total Assets 319.9 277.8 151.9 108.7 96.7

equity 181.2 126.9 92.4 66.7 56.6

Provisions 13.6 6.5 3.3 6.8 6.3

interest-Bearing liabilities 25.8 42.8 5.9 5.1 4.5

no-interest-Bearing liabilities 99.3 101.6 50.3 30.0 29.3

Total Equity, Provisions and Liabilities 319.9 277.8 151.9 108.7 96.7

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY
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Key Financial Indicators
FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Profit margin before depreciation/EBITDA
Profit/loss	before	depreciation/amortization	as	a	percentage	of	net	sales.

Operating margin/EBIT
Profit/loss	after	depreciation	(excluding	profit	from	associated	compa-
nies)	as	a	percentage	of	net	sales.

Profit margin
Profit	after	net	financial	items	as	a	percentage	of	net	sales.

Return on operating capital
Profit/loss	after	depreciation	as	a	percentage	of	average	operating	
capital.

Return on capital employed
Profit/loss	before	financial	items	plus	financial	income	as	a	percentage	of	
average capital employed.

Return on equity
Profit/loss	after	net	financial	income/expenses	minus	tax	paid	and	de-
ferred tax on the year’s appropriations as a percentage of average capital 
employed.

Operating capital
total capital employed minus cash equivalents, non interest-bearing 
liabilities and provisions.

Capital employed
total capital employed less non-interest bearing liabilities.

Equity
equity, including the capital portion of untaxed reserves.

Equity ratio
Equity	(calculated	as	above)	as	a	percentage	of	total	capital	employed.

Average number of employees
hours paid by the company in relation to ordinary annual working hours.

Sales per employee
net sales divided by average number of employees.

Average number of shares
Average number of shares during the period.

Earnings per share
Net	profit	divided	by	the	average	number	of	shares,	before	and	after	
dilution.

Equity per share before dilution, SEK
equity, calculated as described above, divided by the number of out-
standing shares.

Equity per share after dilution, SEK
Adjusted equity, i.e. equity when consideration is given to the increase in 
equity that arises when options are exercised, in relation to the number 
of shares that there would be if all outstanding options were fully exer-
cised.

DEFINITIONS

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS

MSEK 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4

PRoFit MARginS
Profit	margin	before	depreciation/EBITDA,	% 13.5 7.8 9.7 8.1 12.0

Operating	margin/EBIT,	% 11.4 4.0 6.4 4.4 9.4

Profit	Margin,	% 11.2 3.6 6.4 5.7 9.4

RetURnS
Return	on	Operating	Capital,	% 39.9 15.6 23.8 14.4 37.3

Return	on	Capital	Employed,	% 37.3 13.1 21.5 17.0 30.7

Return	on	Equity,	% 33.1 10.0 17.1 13.8 26.6

eQUity StRUctURe
equity, MSeK 181.2 126.9 92.4 66.7 56.6

Equity	Ratio,	% 56.7 45.7 60.9 61.4 58.5

eMPloyeeS
no. of employees at year end 548 546 306 222 186

Average number of employees 517 448 273 204 169

Revenue Per employee, kSeK 1,191 1,051 1,020 982 1,024

PeR ShARe DAtA
Average no. of Shares before Dilution, in thousands 9,808 9,467 8,638 8,105 7,958

number of Shares at year end before Dilution, in thousands 9,959 9,736 8,719 8,223 7,983

Profit	Per	Share	before	Dilution,	SEK 5.11 1.22 2.17 1.24 1.66

earnings Per Share after Dilution, SeK 5.04 1.21 2.15 1.23 1.65

earnings Per Share from continuing operations, SeK 5.11 1.22 1.58 1.05

earnings Per Share from continuing 
operations after Dilution, SeK 5.04 1.21 1.56 1.04

equity Per Share before Dilution, SeK 18.20 13.04 10.60 8.11 7.09

equity Per Share after Dilution, SeK 18.14 12.87 10.49 8.01 7.01



geneRAl inFoRMAtion ABoUt the BUSineSS
The	Board	of	Directors	and	CEO	of	Prevas	AB	(publ),	
corporate identity number 556252-1384, registered in 
Västerås, hereby submit the annual report and consoli-
dated	financial	statements	for	the	Parent	Company	and	
Group	for	the	2008	financial	year.
 Prevas is an innovative it company with a strong 
corporate culture that gives its customers a world-class 
competitive edge. Prevas provides consulting services, 
products, and support to companies developing prod-
ucts with high it content or which need to streamline 
or automate their business. By developing intelligence 
in our customers’ products and industrial systems, we 
create	the	conditions	for	profitable	products,	production	
and logistics.
 Prevas has operations at nine different locations in 
Sweden:	Gothenburg,	Karlstad,	Linköping,	Malmö,	
Stockholm, Uppsala, lund, helsingborg and Västerås. it 
also has operations at two locations, copenhagen and  
Århus,	in	Denmark	and	at	one	location,	Oslo,	in	Norway.
 the business is made up of two business areas, Prod-
uct Development and industrial Systems.

The Product Development Business Area
the trend among companies that sell products with 
a high it content is to increasingly entrust suppliers 
with more responsibility to deliver development proj-
ects. there is a high level of demand in the market for 
developing intelligent products. this is due to unavoid-
able shifts in technology for more and more products as 
well as ever-shortening life cycles. Prevas has a strong 
position among its customers and will continue to invest 
in it services combined with complete platforms and 
modules.

The Industrial Systems Business Area
Swedish industry will be facing many challenges. But, 
regardless of whether we are in a recession or period of 
economic boom, a critical success factor is to work per-
sistently and long-term with production improvements.
With its focus on manufacturing-related it solutions, 
Prevas is positioned as the most suitable supplier in the 
industry. For many years, Prevas has worked with industry 
to utilize the potential to achieve increased levels of pro-
ductivity,	flexibility	and	quality	using	systems	for	produc-
tion control, production monitoring, logistics, traceability 
and more.

SigniFicAnt eVentS thAt occURReD 
DURing the FinAnciAl yeAR
The	goal	for	2008	was	to	significantly	improve	profits.	
The	year	turned	out	to	be	Prevas’	best	to	date:	both	

growth and the earnings trend were very strong. Dur-
ing the year, we strengthened our position in every 
area,	both	financially	and	business-wise.	Financially,	we	
achieved	significant	improvements	in	sales,	margins	and	
cash	flow.
	 Prevas’	sales	for	2008	were	SEK	615.7	(470.9)	million,	
which corresponds to an increase of 31 percent. of the 
total	growth	in	sales,	14%	was	organic	growth.	Sales	per	
employee	were	SEK	1,191	(1,051)	thousand.	The	total	
number	of	working	days	was	252	(250).	EBIT	was	SEK	70.3	
(19.0)	million	with	a	corresponding	operating	margin	of	
11.4	(4.0)	percent.
 At the end of 2008, Prevas had 548 employees work-
ing with innovative it, as compared to 546 employees at 
the end of 2007.
 For 2008, the Parent company had sales of SeK 502.3 
(398.2)	million,	which	corresponds	to	an	increase	of	26	
percent. the Parent company reported eBit of SeK 51.5 
(3.7)	million	with	a	corresponding	operating	margin	of	
10.2	(0.9)	percent.
 During the year, Prevas was able to maintain its cus-
tomer base and at present, 32 percent of sales comes 
from, and is evenly distributed across, our 5 largest 
customers 
 During 2007, the acquired units grew according to 
expectations, thus contributing SeK 12 million to eBit in 
2008.
	 During	the	year,	significant	general	agreements	were	
signed with such companies as ABB, Aerocrine, Atlas 
copco, Bombardier, ericsson, FMV, ge healthcare, 
luftfartsverket, Maquet, SAAB Aerosystems, SMhi and 
Stoneridge.
 For Prevas, the premium rebate from Alecta has had a 
positive impact on eBit of approximately SeK 8.2 million 
during the year. 

Acquisitions that were made during 2008:
•		 Emfila	Software	AB,	1	October.	The	company	has	spe- 
 cialist expertise in embedded systems and telecom- 
 munications, 15 employees. More information is avail- 
 able in note 3.

DiRecteD ShARe iSSUeS, etc.
in September 2008, an agreement was signed to acquire 
100%	of	the	shares	in	Emfila	Software	AB,		CIN	556679-
1306, effective 2008-10-01. According to the agreement, 
shareholders	in	Emfila	Software	AB	received	a	total	of	
106,733 newly issued class B shares in Prevas.

SigniFicAnt eVentS thAt occURReD 
SUBSeQUent to yeAR-enD
henrik Møller was appointed as the new President of 
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Prevas A/S as of 27 February 2009. Michael Aoun, who 
previously held the position as President of Prevas A/S 
decided to leave Prevas.

PReVAS StocK
Registered capital as of 31 December 2008 was SeK 
24,897,525, made up of 9,959,010 shares, of which 
820,160 shares were class A and 9,138,850 shares were 
class B.
 each share holds an equal right to the company as-
sets	and	profit.	Each	Class	A	share	entitles	the	holder	to	
ten votes at the Annual general Meeting, whereas each 
class B share entitles the holder to one vote at the An-
nual general Meeting.

Stockholders with at least 10 percent of the total 
voting rights in the company
Stockholders as of 2008-12-31
Göran	Lundin	and	family,	150,000	Class	A	shares,	
2,550,540 class B shares. total number of shares, 
2,700,540,	corresponding	to	27.12%	of	total	shares	and	
23.36%	of	total	voting	rights.
	 Länsförsäkringar	Bergslagen,	250,000	Class	A	shares,	
1,044,100 class B shares. total number of shares, 
1,294,100,	corresponding	to	12.99%	of	total	shares	and	
20.44%	of	total	voting	rights.

AUthoRiZAtion to BoARD oF DiRectoRS
At the Annual general Meeting on 28 March 2007, 
Prevas’ Board of Directors was once again given the au-
thority to issue new shares, with the exception of existing 
stockholders’ preferential rights. the authorization was 
for a maximum of 973,600 class B shares to be used in 
connection with new acquisitions or with the purpose of 
adding one or more new owners of strategic importance.

eMPloyee StocK oPtion PRogRAM
At the general meeting of stockholders on March 20, 
2002 an employee stock option program totaling 375,000 
employee options and 125,000 other options was ap-
proved.  All of Prevas’ employees are entitled to partici-
pate in the program. each employee option entitles the 
holder to purchase one newly-emitted Prevas B-share 
during the period May 15, 2003 through May 31, 2009.
 the issue price is SeK 15 per share, which is based 
on the average price paid per share during the period 
March 6-19, 2002. the aim of the scheme is to create a 
sense of involvement throughout the company in the 
earnings trend and thereby help retain expertise. More 
information is available in note 4 about the allocation 
for the year, along with the terms and conditions of the 
program.

FinAnciAl inStRUMentS AnD 
RiSK MAnAgeMent
Financial risks
The	Prevas	Group’s	financial	risks	have	been	low.	The	
financial	transactions	that	occur	are	solely	to	support	
operating activities and there are no transactions con-
ducted for speculative purposes.
 Financial instruments consist primarily of a loan 
for SeK 19.25 million, an utilized bank overdraft, cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable.

Liquidity and cash flow risks
Liquidity	and	cash	flow	risks	refer	to	the	risk	of	a	higher	
cost	and	limited	financing	opportunities	when	loans	are	
renewed and the risk that payment commitments cannot 
be met due to a shortage of cash. 
 the Prevas group’s interest-bearing liabilities consist 
of	a	bank	loan	for	SEK	19.25	million	and	financial	lease	
liabilities. the group has been granted a bank overdraft 
facility of SeK 35 million, which can be utilized to cover 
temporary	financing	needs.	The	international	credit	rat-
ing	agency,	D&B	(Dun	&	Bradstreet)	gave	AA	rating	to	
the Prevas group, which is a high credit rating.

Interest risk
Since no investments have been made, the group’s inter-
est rate risk comprises changes in the deposit rate and 
the lending rate on the group’s checking account along 
with a bank loan. however, Prevas is indirectly affected 
by the fact that interest rate changes may affect custom-
ers’ willingness to invest.
	 Existing	liabilities	consist	of	a	bank	loan	and	financial	
liabilities subject to variable interest rates the maturity 
schedule	for	financial	lease	liabilities	is	specified	in	Notes	
19 and 22.

Credit risk
credit risk is made up of the group’s outstanding ac-
counts receivable and non-invoiced work-in-progress. 
Since customers largely consist of large and medium-
sized companies with good solvency, bad debt losses 
have	historically	been	insignificant.	In	order	to	reduce	
the risk of credit losses, credit checks are run on all new 
customers.  new credit checks on existing customer may 
be made if there is an indication of a change in solvency 
and due to increased risks associated with the existing 
recession. credit losses for the Prevas group have been 
low in 2008.

Currency risk
the group is exposed to different types currency risks.
there is a certain exposure related to purchases and 
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sales made in foreign currencies.  Risk is related partly to 
currency	fluctuations	on	financial	instruments,	accounts	
payable and accounts receivable.  there is also a risk 
associated	with	the	expected	or	agreed	upon	cash	flow,	
i.e., transaction exposure.
currency risk also arises when a subsidiary’s assets and 
liabilities are translated to the Parent company’s func-
tional currency, i.e., translation exposure or accounting 
exposure.

(i) Transaction exposure
invoicing in amounts other than SeK, DKK or noK make 
up less that 3 percent of total invoicing for the group. 
Foreign currency exposure has, in each individual case, 
been	determined	to	be	insignificant	and	therefore	hedg-
ing has been deemed unnecessary. Purchases in foreign 
currency occur to a very small extent.

(ii) Translation/accounting exposure
it is group policy to not use hedging in order to miti-
gate translation exposure for foreign currencies. note 1, 
accounting principles, net investment hedging, explains 
how this is dealt with for accounting purposes.

otheR RiSKS AnD UnceRtAintieS
The business cycle and the market
The	first	half	of	2008	was	characterized	by	a	strong	
economy and good industrial growth both in Sweden 
and abroad. the it and consulting industry experienced 
strong demand and most companies in the industry 
reported increased positive eBit. Despite a very shaky 
finance	market	during	the	second	half	of	2008,	customer	
demand for Prevas’ expertise has continued. however, a 
future decline in demand cannot be ruled out.

Project risks
Prevas strives to have a sound mix of both open account 
assignments	and	fixed-price	projects.	For	the	2008	finan-
cial	year,	20%	of	sales	came	from	fixed-price	projects.	
There	is	risk	associated	with	fixed-price	projects	in	that	
there may be misjudgment regarding the time required 
for completion. At the same time, however, this type of 
agreement enables both Prevas and the customer to 
obtain more value-added by, among other things, being 
able	to	benefit	from	the	experience	gained	from	prior	
projects.  Prevas carries out many complicated assign-
ments. As a result, supplementary work must occasion-
ally be performed on assignments that have already 
been delivered. the Prevas group continually monitors 
the status of each project and determines the amount 
to be recorded in the guarantee reserve accordingly. 
The	risks	associated	with	fixed-price	projects	are	man-

aged	by	means	of	Prevas’	ISO	certified	project	model,	
which regulates in detail the management and control of 
projects.

Attracting and maintaining expertise
At Prevas, our most important assets are our employ-
ees	and	customers.	The	state	of	the	market	influences	
Prevas’ ability to attract new employees and maintain 
its high level of expertise. For certain skill areas and 
geographical	regions,	it	is	difficult	to	recruit	qualified	
employees. Prevas is committed to creating a corporate 
culture that keeps employee turnover at a minimum and 
attracts the best employees to each of its business areas.

inFoRMAtion on non-FinAnciAl PeRFoR-
MAnce inDicAtoRS
the nature of Prevas’ operations are not such that they 
have a negative impact on the environment. Any effects 
on the environment from Prevas’ operations are dealt 
with in the company’s environment, travel and company 
car policy.
 Both the travel policy and company car policy are, 
among other things, intended to minimize the amount 
of travel. these guidelines aim at encouraging good 
planning and follow-up to ensure that all business trips 
made	by	Prevas’	employees	are	as	efficient,	economical,	
environmentally friendly and as safe as possible.
 Prevas’ environmental policy encompasses not only 
purely environmental issues, but also working environ-
ment concerns.  this includes factors that can affect 
the physical working environment as well as social and 
psychological factors.

SUggeSteD PRinciPleS FoR DeteRMining 
ReMUneRAtion PAiD to SenioR execUtiVeS
the Board of Directors has proposed suggested guide-
lines for determining remuneration and other terms 
of employment for senior executives. Senior execu-
tives includes the group’s management team, which is 
comprised	of	the	Chief	Executive	Officer,	CFO,	Business	
Area Managers, company Presidents, and Senior Vice 
Presidents of Product/Business Development 
(6	persons	in	total).	The	Board	of	Directors	recommends	
that the AgM approve these guidelines for determining 
remuneration and other terms of employment for senior 
executives of the Prevas group. these guidelines would 
apply to any employment contracts entered into after 
the decision is made by the AgM as well as any
changes made after that point in time to the terms of 
existing employment contracts. the Board of Directors’ 
proposal was based upon the desire to have a level and 
structure	of	benefits	for	the	Group’s	senior	executives	
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that is market-competitive.

Fixed	salary:	Fixed	salary	for	each	individual	shall	be	
based upon that person’s degree of responsibility and 
role, as well as the expertise and experience required for 
the position.

Variable	salary:	For	the	Group’s	senior	executives,	vari-
able salary shall be structured as a variable component 
of the total cash remuneration package. the aim is 
that	variable	salary	shall	first	and	foremost	be	tied	to	
the	Group’s	stated	goals,	as	measured	by	its	financial	
performance. goal-setting for the variable component of 
salaries shall be examined by the Board on a yearly basis 
in order to ensure that the goals are in line with current 
business strategies. the portion of total compensation 
that is made up of variable salary is determined by the 
job description and may be between 8 and 17 percent 
of	the	fixed	portion	of	salary,	provided	that	the	stated	
goals have been fully achieved. if goals are exceeded, 
then the variable portion of salary may be between 17 
and	33	percent	(maximum)	of	the	fixed	portion	of	salary.	
the guidelines also include a minimum level of achieve-
ment that is required in relation to the goals before any 
bonuses may be paid.

Other	benefits:	There	shall	also	be	limits	regarding	other	
benefits,	such	as	company	car,	reimbursement	for	health	
care insurance, etc. consideration must be given to the 
total	amount	of	other	compensation	and	such	benefits		
must also be in line with the market. in addition, em-
ployee stock options may be granted in accordance with 
the existing program.

Pension:	The	CEO	and	other	senior	executives	are	en-
titled	to	pension	benefits	that	are	in	line	with	the	market	
according to the standard itP insurance plan. the retire-
ment age for the ceo and other senior executives is 65.

Notice	period	and	severance	pay:	The	CEO	is	required	
to give at least six month’s notice for the termination of 
employment. the company is required to issue its notice 
of termination to the ceo at least eighteen months in 
advance. other senior executives in the group have 
employment terms that are in line with the market.

Remuneration	committee:	Within	the	Board	of	Direc-
tors, there is a remuneration committee responsible for 
approving, monitoring  and making suggestions to the 
Board regarding the terms of employment and incentive 
schemes for the ceo and other senior executives.

Deviations	in	certain	cases:	The	Board	of	Directors	is	
entitled	to	deviate	from	these	guidelines	for	specific	
cases if warranted by the circumstances. Should any such 
deviation be made, information must then be provided 
at the next scheduled AgM to explain the reason for the 
deviation.
	 See	Note	4	for	specific	information	regarding	the	
remuneration paid to senior executives in 2008.

exPectAtionS FoR FUtURe DeVeloPMent
Prevas	expects	that	2009	will	be	a	year	filled	with	chal-
lenges as a result of the general state of the economy. 
But, it will also be a year full of possibilities. Prevas will 
continue	to	pursue	its	strategy	of	growth	with	profitabil-
ity during 2009. We expect that the trend of customers 
demanding	more	complete/finished	solutions	combined	
with consulting services will continue. Prevas’ investment 
in packaged services will provide an important future 
competitive advantage.

PRoPoSeD AllocAtion oF coMPAny PRoFitS
The	Board	of	Directors	proposes	that	the	available	profit	
and non-restricted funds of SeK 51,771,744 is distributed 
as	follows:

Dividends Paid
(9,959,010	shares	*	SEK	1.50	per	share)				SEK	14,938,515	
carried forward                                           SeK 36,833,229
   of which share premium reserve            SeK 35,861,829
total                                                             SeK 51,771,744

April 3, 2009 has been proposed as the date of dividend 
balancing.
	 For	further	information	on	the	company’s	profit	and	
financial	position,	refer	to	the	company	income	state-
ments, balance sheets and accompanying notes to the 
financial	statements.
 A statement from the Board regarding the proposed 
allocation	of	company	profits	will	by	posted	on	the	
company website and will also be available at the Annual 
general Meeting.

MANAGEMENT REPORT
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Consolidated Income Statement
1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER

kSEK N o t e 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7

Net Sales 2 615,687 470,911

Operating Expenses

capitalized Work on own Account 10 3,158 5,078

other external costs 5 –132,251 –99,497

Personnel costs 4 –403,491 –339,537

Amortization/impairment of intangible Fixed Assets 10 –6,527 –12,691

Depreciation of Property, Plant and equipment 11 –6,255 –5,231

Total Operating Expenses –545,366 –451,878

EBIT 70,321 19,033

Financial income 1,207 634

Financial expenses –2,640 –2,842

Net Financial Items 6 –1,433 –2,208

Profit/Loss before Tax 68,888 16,825

tax 8 –18,818 –5,250

PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR 50,070 11,575

earnings Per Share before Dilution, SeK 9 5.11 1.22

earnings Per Share after Dilution, SeK 9 5.04 1.21
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
AS OF 31 DECEMBER

kSEK N o t e 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7

A S S e t S

goodwill 10 105,942 96,446

other intangible Assets 10 24,861 26,088

Property, Plant and equipment 11 15,108 16,349

long-term Receivables 13, 22 240 266

Deferred tax Assets 8 646 1,615

Total Fixed Assets 146,797 140,764

inventories 14 1,434 656

Accounts Receivable 15, 22 119,680 94,485

Prepaid expenses and Accrued income 16 35,014 33,383

other Receivables 22 240 1,114

cash equivalents 17 16,745 7,415

Total Current Assets 173,113 137,053

TOTAL ASSETS 319,910 277,817

eQUity AnD liABilitieS

eQUity 18

Stock 24,897 24,341

other capital contributions 52,868 54,570

Reserves 6,605  1,206

Retained	Earnings,	Including	Net	Profit/Loss	for	the	Year 96,878 46,808

Total Equity 181,248 126,925

liABilitieS

long-term interest-Bearing liabilities 19, 22 21,931 24,193

other Provisions 20 2,850 372

Deferred tax liabilities 8 10,735 6,159

Total Long-Term Liabilities 35,516 30,724

current interest-Bearing liabilities 19, 22 3,882 18,553

Accounts Payable 22 18,174 15,811

current tax liability 8,985 2,104

other liabilities 25,911 34,493

Accrued expenses and Deferred income 21 46,194 49,207

Total Current Liabilities 103,146 120,168

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 319,910 277,817

For information on any pledged assets and contingent liabilities for the group, see note 25.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
AS OF 31 DECEMBER

kSEK N o t e 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7

e B i t 70,321 19,033

items not included in cash Flow

    - Depreciation/Amortization and impairment 12,782 17,922

    - Provisions, etc. 3,331 –272

net Financial items –1,433 –2,208

Payed tax –7,850 –5,874

Cash Flow from Continuing Operations before Changes in Working Capital 77,151 28,601

changes in current Receivables –23,820 –40,893

changes in current liabilities 4,045 15,151

Cash Flow from Continuing Operations 57,376 2,859

i n V e S t M e n t  A c t i V i t i e S
investments in companies and Subsidiaries 29 –17,535 –28,150

investments in intangible Assets 10 –4,647 –5,077

investments in Property, Plant and equipment 11 –5,165 –8,777

Sale of Fixed Assets – 274

Cash Flow from Investment Activities –27,347 –41,730

F i n A n c i n g  A c t i V i t i e S
new loans and Financial lease liabilities – 47,935

loan Amortization –16,932 –11,100

employee Stock option Program 1,736 1,576

Dividend Paid –5,843 –9,349

Cash Flow from Financing Activities –21,039 29,062

CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR 8,990 –9,809

cash equivalents at the Beginning of the year 7,415 17,053

translation Difference on cash equivalents 340 171

Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year 16,745 7,415

S t A t e M e n t  o F  c h A n g e S  i n  e Q U i t y 

(note	18) k S E K Stock

Other 
Capital 

Contribu-
tions Reserves

Retained 
Earnings Total

equity as of 2007-01-01 21,801 26,061 6 44,582 92,450

new issue 2,278 27,069 29,347

employee Stock option Program 262 1,314 1,546

issue of own Share Warrants 126 126

translation Difference 1,200 1,200

Dividends –9,349 –9,349

Profit/Loss	for	the	Year 11,575 11,575

Equity as of 2007-12-31 24,341 54,570 1,206 46,808 126,925

Beginning equity 2008-01-01 24,341 54,570 1,206 46,808 126,925

new issue 267 2,218 2,485

employee Stock option Program 289 1,446 1,735

issue of own Share Warrants 477 477

translation Difference 5,399 5,399

Dividends –5,843 –5,843

Profit/Loss	for	the	Year 50,070 50,070

Ending Equity 2008-12-31 24,897 52,868 6,605 96,878 181,248
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Income Statement - Parent Company
1 JANUARY -  31 DECEMBER

kSEK N o t e 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7

Net Sales 2 502,308 398,186

capitalized Work on own Account 10 1,879 5,076

Operating Expenses

other external costs 5 –118,014 –90,009

Personnel costs 4 –319,737 –289,455

Amortization/impairment of intangible Assets 10 –11,104 –16,768

Depreciation of Property, Plant and equipment 11 –3,859 –3,293

Total Operating Expenses –452,714 –399,525

EBIT 51,473 3,737

Profit/Loss	from	Participations	in	Group	Companies 6 –8,116 –20,881

other interest income and Similar items 6 518 483

interest expenses and Similar items 6 –2,009 –1,604

Earnings from Continuing Operations Before Taxes 41,866 –18,265

Appropriations 7 –12,750 1,810

Profit/Loss before Tax 29,116 –16,455

taxes 8 –10,755 –1,541

PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR 18,361 –17,996

Operating	Margin,	% 10,2 0,9

Profit	Margin,	% 8,3 –4,6

PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Balance Sheet - Parent Company
AS OF 31 DECEMBER

kSEK N o t e 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7

ASSetS

FixeD ASSetS

intangible Assets 10 34,266 42,047

Property, Plant and equipment 11 6,890 8,052

Financial Fixed Assets

    Participations in group companies 27 43,257 46,047

    long-term Receivables 13, 22 240 266

Total Fixed Assets   84,653 96,412

cURRent ASSetS AnD ReceiVABleS

Accounts Receivable 15, 22 90,219 71,643

Receivables from group companies 12 907 3,529

other Receivables 158 344

Prepaid expenses and Accrued income 16 30,741 30,437

Total Current Receivables 122,025 105,953

cash and cash equivalents 17 3 663 60

Total Current Assets 125,688 106,013

TOTAL ASSETS 210,341 202,425

eQUity AnD liABilitieS

eQUity 18

ReStRicteD eQUity

Stock 24,897 24,341

Statutory Reserve 16,981 16,981

non-ReStRicteD eQUity

Share Premium Reserve 35,862 38,041

Retained earnings –2,451 14,553

Profit/Loss	for	the	Year 18,361 –17,996

Total Equity 93,650 75,920

Untaxed Reserves 28 12,750 –

long-teRM liABilitieS AnD PRoViSionS

Provisions for guarantees 20 2,752 372

liabilities to credit institutions 19, 22 17,050 19,250

Total Long-Term Liabilities 19,802 19,622

cURRent liABilitieS

liabilities to credit institutions 19, 22 2,200 16,849

Accounts Payable 22 15,271 13,822

liabilities to group companies 10,206 5,823

current tax liability 5,555 1,491

other liabilities 19,990 28,465

Accrued expenses and Deferred income 21 30,917 40,433

Total Current Liabilities 84,139 106,883

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 210,341 202,425

Pledged Assets 25 47,000 47,000

contingent liabilities 25 3,195 4,189
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Parent Company Cash Flow Statement
AS OF 31 DECEMBER

kSEK N o t e 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7

e B i t 51,473 3,737

items not included in cash Flow

    - Depreciation/Amortization and impairment 14,963 20,061

    - Provisions, etc. 3,151 167

interest Received 518 483

interest Paid –2,008 –1,604

taxes Paid –6,691 –5,078

Cash Flow from Continuing Operations before Changes in Working Capital 61,406 17,766

changes in current Receivables –16,072 –37,477

changes in current liabilities 2,590 22,942

Cash Flow from Continuing Operations 47,924 3,231

i n V e S t M e n t  A c t i V i t i e S
Disposal of subsidiaries 915 2,739

Acquisition of subsidiaries/business, net of cash 29 –18,259 –33,601

investments in intangible Assets 10 –3,323 –5,078

investments in Property, Plant and equipment 11 –2,697 –6,983

Cash Flow from Investment Activities –23,364 –42,923

F i n A n c i n g  A c t i V i t i e S
new loans – 47,199

loan Amortization –16,849 –11,100

employee Stock option Program 1,735 1,576

Dividend Paid –5,843 –9,349

Cash Flow from Financing Activities –20,957 28,326

CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR 3,603 –11,366

cash equivalents at the Beginning of the year 60 11,426

cash equivalents at the Beginning of the year 3,663 60

Change 3,603 –11,366

S t A t e M e n t  o F 

c h A n g e S  i n  e Q U i t y Restricted Equity Non-Restricted Equity

k S E K  (note	18) Stock
Statutory 

Reserve

Share 
Premium 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Profit/
Loss for 

the Year Total Equity

equity as of 2007-01-01 21,801 16,981 9,657 8,158 15,816 72,413

Allocation	of	Previous	Year’s	Profit 15,816 –15,816 0

group contribution Paid –100 –100

tax effect on group contribution Paid 28 28

new issue 2,278 27,070 29,348

Dividends –9,349 –9,349

employee Stock options Program 262 1,314 1,576

Profit/Loss	for	the	Year –17,996 –17,996

Equity as of 2007-12-31 24,341 16,981 38,041 14,553 –17,996 75,920

Beginning equity 2008-01-01 24,341 16,981 38,041 14,553 –17,996 75,920

Allocation	of	Previous	Year’s	Profit –17,996 17,996 0

new issue 267 2,218 2,485

Dividends –5,846 –5,843

employee Stock options Program 289 1,446 1,735

issuing of warrants 992 992

Profit/Loss	for	the	Year 18,361 18,361

Ending Equity 2008-12-31 24,897 16,981 35,862 –2,451 18,361 93,650

PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Notes to the Financial Statements
(a) Accordance with norms and legislation
The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	
accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS)	as	issued	by	the	International	Accounting	Standards	
Board	(IASB)	along	with	interpretations	issued	by	the	Interna-
tional	Financial	Reporting	Interpretations	Committee	(IFRIC)	as	
endorsed by the european commission for application within 
the eU. in addition, we have applied recommendation RFR 1.1 
Supplementary Accounting Rules for groups, issued by the 
Swedish Financial Accounting Standards council.
 the Parent company has applied the same accounting 
principles	as	the	Group,	except	in	certain	specific	instances	that	
are stated under ”Parent company Accounting Principles.” 
Deviations between the principles used by the Parent company 
and	the	Group	(IFRS)	were	caused	by	constraints	from	having	
to	comply	with	the	Swedish	Annual	Accounts	Act	(ÅRL),	the	Act	
on	Safeguarding	Pension	Obligations	(Tryggandelagen),	or,	in	
some instances, tax considerations.
 the Annual Report and consolidated Financial Statements 
were approved for issue by the Board on 10 March 2009. the 
consolidated income statement, consolidated balance sheet, 
Parent company income statement and Parent company bal-
ance sheet with be brought forth for adoption at the Annual 
general Meeting on 31 March 2009.

(b) Conditions for preparation of the Parent Company and 
Consolidated Financial Statements
Assets and liabilities are reported at historical cost, with the ex-
ception	of	certain	financial	assets	that	are	listed	at	net	realizable	
value. Financial assets and liabilities reported at net realizable 
value are comprised of derivative instruments.
 Fixed assets and disposal groups that are held for sale are 
shown at the lesser of prior carrying amount and fair value less 
selling costs. the Parent company’s functional currency is the 
Swedish	Krona	(SEK),	which	is	also	the	reporting	currency	for	
both the Parent company and the group. Accordingly, the 
financial	statements	are	presented	in	SEK.	Unless	otherwise	
stated, all amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand.

(c) Significant accounting principles applied and changes in 
accounting principles during the year
Unless	otherwise	stated,	the	accounting	principles	(discussed	
below)	that	were	used	to	prepare	the	Group	accounts	were	
consistently applied to each period that is presented in the 
consolidated	financial	reports.	The	accounting	principles	for	the	
group were consistently applied for reporting and consolidation 
of the Parent company and subsidiaries. 
 During 2008, the following new or changed standards and 
interpretations	came	into	effect:
 iFRic 11, iFRS 2 – group and treasury Share transactions. 
this has not had any effect on the company’s reporting.
 iFRic 12 and iFRic 14 came into effect, but are not appli-
cable. 
 Several new or changed standards and interpretations will 
come	into	effect	during	the	next	financial	year.	The	company	
has	decided	against	early	adoption	when	preparing	these	finan-
cial statements. 
 of the standards that come into effect in 2009, primarily iFRS 

3, Business combinations, and iAS 27, consolidated and Sepa-
rate Financial Statements, will result in changes for Prevas, if 
these standards are approved in their current form. iFRS 8, op-
erating Segments, came into effect on 1 january 2009. the cur-
rent assessment is that the primary segments currently reported 
by Prevas essentially conform with the operating segments de-
scribed in iFRS 8. changes to iAS 1 will affect the presentation 
of	financial	statements	in	certain	regards.	However,	this	will	have	
no effect on how reported amounts are determined. changes to 
iAS 23, Borrowing costs, may affect the company’s investments 
in product development. however, it is not expected that the 
effect	will	be	significant.	Changes	to	IAS	27	that	have	to	do	with	
the cost of an investment in a subsidiary may affect how divi-
dends received from subsidiaries are reported. other standards 
and interpretations are iFRS 2, changes to iAS 39, iFRic 13, 
iFRic 15, iFRic 16, iFRic 17 and iFRic 18. it has been assessed 
that these are not applicable to Prevas.

(d) Segment reporting
A	segment	is	an	identifiable	part	of	the	Group	that	is	included	
in	the	accounts.		It	may	either	supply	specific	products	or	ser-
vices	(business	segment)	or	products	and	services	to	a	specific	
economic	area	(geographic	region)	where	it	is	exposed	to	risks	
and opportunities that differ from other segments. the group’s 
primary segments are business units. Secondary segments are 
geographic regions. in accordance with iAS 14, segment infor-
mation has only been provided for the group.

(e) Classifications, etc.
Fixed assets and long-term liabilities in the Parent company 
and group consist almost exclusively of amounts expected to 
be recovered or paid more than 12 months after the balance 
sheet date. current assets and short-term liabilities in the Parent 
company and group consist almost exclusively of amounts ex-
pected to be recovered or paid within 12 months of the balance 
sheet date.

(f) Consolidation principles
(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are companies in which Prevas AB is able to exert a 
controlling	influence.	Controlling	influence	implies	the	direct	or	
indirect	ability	to	formulate	a	company’s	financial	or	operating	
strategies	in	order	to	reap	financial	benefits.	An	assessment	of	
controlling	influence	involves	determining	whether	the	shares	
with potential voting rights can be used or converted without 
delay.
 Subsidiaries are reported in accordance with the purchase 
accounting method. Using this method, the acquisition of a 
subsidiary is treated as a transaction through which the group 
indirectly acquires the subsidiary’s assets and assumes responsi-
bility for its liabilities and contingent liabilities. the consolidated 
acquisition value is determined through an acquisition analysis 
in conjunction with the business acquisition. the analysis estab-
lishes the acquisition value of the shares or business operations, 
along	with	the	fair	value	of	the	acquired,	identifiable	assets	and	
the acquired liabilities and contingent liabilities. the acquisition 
value of the subsidiary’s shares and its business is determined by 
the fair value as of the transfer date for the acquired assets,
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assumed/newly arisen liabilities and newly issued equity instru-
ments that were given as consideration in exchange for the 
acquired net assets, including any transaction costs that are 
directly related to the acquisition. in business acquisitions where 
the acquisition cost exceeds the net value of the acquired assets 
and assumed liabilities/contingent liabilities, the difference is 
shown as goodwill. if the difference is negative, it is directly 
reported in the income statement.
	 The	financial	reports	of	subsidiaries	are	included	in	the	
consolidated	financial	statements	as	of	the	acquisition	date	and	
until	such	time	as	the	controlling	influence	no	longer	exists.

(ii) Transactions to be eliminated upon consolidation
intra-group receivables, liabilities, revenues or expenses and 
unrealized gains and losses attributable to intra-group transac-
tions between group companies are fully eliminated when the 
consolidated Financial Statements are prepared. Unrealized 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but 
only to the extent that there is no indication of a write-down 
requirement.

(g) Foreign currency
(i) Transactions in foreign currency
transactions in foreign currency are converted to the functional 
currency using the exchange rate that was applicable on the 
transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currency are translated to the functional currency 
using the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.  
Unrealized exchange rate differences are accordingly reported 
in the income statement. translation differences on operating 
receivables and liabilities are included in the income statement.

(ii) Financial reports concerning foreign operations
Assets and liabilities in foreign operations, including goodwill 
and	other	consolidated	surplus	and	deficit	values,	are	translated	
from the functional currencies of the foreign business operations 
to	the	Group’s	reporting	currency,	the	Swedish	Krona	(SEK),	
using the exchange rate prevailing on the balance-sheet date. 
Revenues and expenses in foreign operations are translated 
to SeK using an average exchange rate that represents an ap-
proximation of the exchange rates for each transaction date in 
question. translation differences arising from currency transla-
tions of foreign operations are reported directly to equity as a 
translation reserve.

(h) Income
(i) Sale of goods and rendering of services
Services are conducted either on a running account basis or 
at	a	fixed	price.	In	either	case,		income	is	reported	using	the	
percentage of completion method. For assignments conducted 
on a running basis, income is recorded in the same period as 
the work was done.
	 For	fixed-price	assignments,	income	is	recorded	at	the	same	
rate as the work is completed, provided that a reasonable 
estimate can be made of the related income and expenses. the 
company	estimates	the	final	costs	for	the	assignment	on	a	con-
tinual basis. the percentage of completion at each closing of 
the books corresponds to the costs incurred for the assignment 
to date in relation to the total estimated costs upon completion. 
the assignment’s income of a particular period equals the total 
expected income for the assignment multiplied by the percent-
age of completion at that date.
 For assignments that do not cover their costs, a full reserva-

tion for the loss is made as soon as such loss is anticipated.
income from the sale of products is recorded upon delivery and 
acceptance by the customer.
 income recognition for support contracts is made on a linear 
basis over the duration the contract.

(i) Leasing
(i) Payments of obligations under finance leases 
the minimum lease payment is allocated between interest 
expense and amortization of the outstanding debt. the interest 
expense is distributed over the leasing period so that each re-
porting	period	is	burdened	by	an	amount	equivalent	to	a	fixed	
interest rate for the reported debt in each period.

(j) Financial income and expenses
Financial income and expenses are comprised of interest in-
come on bank balances, interest expenses on loans and unreal-
ized	and	realized	profits	on	derivative	instruments.
 interest income on receivables and interest expense on 
liabilities are calculated using the effective interest method. 
the effective rate is the interest rate that renders the present 
value of all future cash receipts and disbursements during the 
anticipated	remaining	fixed	interest	term	equal	to	the	carrying	
amount of the receivable or liability. the interest component in 
financial	leasing	payments	is	reported	in	the	income	statement	
and calculated using the effective interest rate method. interest 
income includes accrued amounts of transaction expenses and 
any discounts, premiums and other differences between the 
original value of the receivable and the amount received at the 
date of maturity.
 Financial expenses are comprised of the interest expense on 
loans, the effect of having dissolved the present value of provi-
sions	and	the	loss	associated	with	a	reevaluation	of	financial	
assets to fair value through the income statement.
	 Net	profit/loss	is	recorded	for	exchange	rate	fluctuations.	
Dividend income is recorded when the right to receive the 
dividend	has	been	confirmed.	Neither	the	Group	nor	Parent	
company capitalize interest on the acquisition value of assets.

(k) Financial instruments
Financial instruments that are shown in the balance sheet as 
assets include cash equivalents, receivables on loans, accounts 
receivable and derivatives. Financial instruments that are shown 
in the balance sheet as liabilities include accounts payable, bank 
loans	and	finance	lease	liabilities.
	 A	financial	asset	or	liability	is	recorded	in	the	balance	sheet	
as soon as the company has committed to the terms of the 
contract. Accounts receivable are recorded in the balance sheet 
as soon as an invoice has been sent. liabilities are recorded as 
soon as the other party has performed the service and there is a 
contractual obligation to pay, even if an invoice has not yet been 
received.
	 A	financial	asset	(or	part	thereof)	is	removed	from	the	bal-
ance sheet once the rights as per the contract are realized or 
fall	due,	or	the	company	largely	transfers	the	risks	and	benefits	
associated	with	ownership.	A	financial	liability	(or	part	thereof)	is	
removed from the balance sheet once the obligation under the 
contract	has	been	fulfilled	or	otherwise	expired.
	 The	acquisition	and	sale	of	financial	assets	are	recorded	on	
the trade date, i.e., when the company commits to acquiring or 
disposing of the asset. Derivative instruments, including embed-
ded derivatives, are recorded on the trade date, i.e., when the 
company	becomes	bound	by	an	agreement.	A	financial	instru-
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ment is offset and reported at net value in the balance sheet 
only when there is a legal right to offset the sum and there is an 
intention to regulate the items with a net sum or at the same 
time realize the asset and regulate the debt.

(i) Financial assets valued at fair value through the Income 
Statement.
These	consist	of	derivatives	categorized	as	financial	assets	that	
are held for trading. they are initially recorded at cost corre-
sponding to the instrument’s fair value. the fair value on deriva-
tives in the form of options is based on changes in its value over 
time. Derivative instruments are comprised of issued warrants 
on own shares. changes in the value of derivative instruments 
are	recorded	in	the	income	statement	as	part	of	net	financial	
income/expense.

(ii) Net investment hedging
Investments	in	foreign	subsidiaries	(net	assets	including	good-
will)	have	not	been	hedged,	since	the	book	value	of	these	assets	
is negligible and the exchange rate between the SeK, noK and 
DKK currencies has historically been relatively stabile.

(iii) Accounts receivable and other short-term and long-term 
receivables 
Receivables	(not	including	derivatives)	with	payments	that	can	
be determined and that are not listed on an active market are 
recorded at the amortized cost less the estimated risk for loss. 
the amortized cost is calculated on the basis of the asset’s initial 
effective rate of interest. Accounts receivable and other current 
receivables expected to mature within 12 months are shown at 
nominal value. each receivable is tested individually to deter-
mine whether there is a risk for loss.  the receivable is then re-
corded at the net realizable value. Write-downs are made when 
necessary and are recorded directly in the income statement.

(iv) Cash and cash equivalents
cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash and readily 
available bank deposits. cash and bank deposits are reported 
at	nominal	value.	Cash	and	Cash	Equivalents	are	defined	in	the	
same	way	in	both	the	cash	flow	statement	and	balance	sheet.

(v) Financial liabilities
Financial	liabilities	are	classified	in	the	category	of	other	
financial	liabilities	and	are	comprised	of	liabilities	related	to	
bank	loans	and	finance	leases.	They	are	initially	recorded	as	the	
amount received less transaction costs. the liability is thereafter 
reported continually at amortized cost using the effective inter-
est method.

(vi) Accounts payable
Accounts	payable	are	classified	in	the	category	of	other	financial	
liabilities and are recorded at the value of amortized cost using 
the effective interest method at the time of acquisition, which 
typically is equivalent to the nominal value.
 Accounts payable are short-term and are therefore recorded 
at nominal value without discounting.

(vii) Exchange rate differences.
A very small portion of the group’s invoicing is in foreign cur-
rency.  Accordingly, the group’s currency exposure is negligible. 
there has been no hedging on foreign currency during 2008.
 exchange rate differences on assets and liabilities related 
to operations are reported as part of the operating income/
expense	while	exchange	rate	differences	on	financial	assets	and	
liabilities	are	reported	as	part	of	net	financial	income/expense.

(l) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Owned assets
Property, plant and equipment is made up of equipment, 
computers, and automobiles. they are shown at historical cost 
less accumulated scheduled depreciation and any impairment 
losses.

(ii) Leased assets
For leased assets, iAS 17 has been applied. leases are classi-
fied	as	either	operating	or	finance	in	the	consolidated	financial	
statements.	A	lease	is	classified	as	a	finance	lease	if	it	transfers	
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.  
Otherwise,	it	is	classified	as	an	operating	lease.
 Financial leases are comprised mainly of company cars. the 
assets that are leased as part of a leasing agreement are shown 
as assets in the consolidated balance sheet. Future leasing pay-
ment obligations are shown as long-term and current liabilities. 
the leased assets are depreciated according to schedule and 
the	lease	payments	are	appropriated	between	the	finance	
charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability.

(iii) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed on an on-going basis in accor-
dance with the basic treatment described in iAS 23.

(iv) Depreciation principles
Depreciation is made on a straight-line basis over the asset’s 
useful life. no depreciation is made on property.
The	following	percentages	are	used	to	calculate	depreciation:
-	Equipment	12.5	–	20	%
-	Computer	equipment	20	–	33	%
 An assessment is made each year of the asset’s remaining 
useful life and residual value.

(m) Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
goodwill represents the difference between the acquisition 
value of the acquired business and the fair value of the acquired 
assets, assumed liabilities and contingent liabilities.
 Regarding the goodwill on acquisitions made before january 
1, 2004, the group has not applied iFRS retroactively as part of 
its adoption of iFRS.  going forward, we will continue to show 
the carrying amount at balance sheet date, which is the group’s 
acquisition value after any test of impairment.  See note 10.
 goodwill is shown at acquisition value minus any accumulat-
ed write-downs. goodwill is allocated amongst cash-generating 
units	and	is	tested	annually	for	impairment	(see	item	o,	account-
ing	principles).
 in business acquisitions where the acquisition cost is less than 
the net value of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities/
contingent liabilities, the difference is taken up directly in the 
income statement.

(ii) Research and development
expenditure on development, where the results of any research 
or other knowledge are utilized to bring about new or improved 
products or processes, is reported as an asset in the balance 
sheet.  however, this is based upon the condition that the 
product or process is technically or commercially viable and the 
company	has	sufficient	resources	to	complete	development	
and thereafter utilize or sell the intangible asset. the carry-
ing amount includes expenditures on materials, direct costs 
for wages and indirect costs that can reasonably and consis-
tently be attributed to the asset. other development costs are 

Note 1, cont.

36



37

Note 1, cont.

expensed in the income statement as incurred. Development 
costs reported in the balance sheet are shown at acquisition 
cost less accumulated amortization and any impairment loss.

(iii) Other intangible assets
other intangible assets that are acquired by the group are 
shown	at	historical	cost	less	accumulated	amortization	(see	
below)	and	any	impairment	loss	(see	item	o,	accounting	prin-
ciples).	Accrued	expenses	for	internally	generated	goodwill	and	
internally generated trademarks are expensed in the income 
statement as incurred.

(iv) Additional expenses
Additional expenses for capitalized intangible assets are report-
ed as an asset in the balance sheet only when they increase the 
expected	future	financial	benefits	for	that	particular	asset.	All	
other costs are expensed as incurred. Any additional expenses 
that should be capitalized are shown under the heading for 
capitalized development expenditure.

(v) Amortization
Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful 
life of the intangible asset, provided the duration of such useful 
life can be assessed. goodwill and intangible assets with an 
uncertain useful life are assessed annually to see if there has 
been any impairment or as soon as there is any indication that 
the value of the asset has diminished. Amortization of intan-
gible assets begins as soon as the asset is available for use. the 
estimated useful life for each type of intangible asset is shown 
below:
- patents and trademarks 3 years
- capitalized development expenditures 3 - 5 years
- customer-based intangibles 5-10 years
- technology 5 - 7 years

(n) Inventories
inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. the cost of inventories is calculated using the FiFo 
method	(First	In,	First	Out)	including	all	expenses	associated	
with the acquisition of such items as well as costs incurred to 
bring the items to their current condition and location. net re-
alizable value is the estimated sales price in the ordinary course 
of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion and 
disposal.

(o) Impairment losses
the reported values for the group’s assets are tested at each 
closing of the books in order to determine whether any write-
downs in value are necessary. however, an exception is made 
for	the	following:		available-for-sale	assets	and	disposal	groups	
that are reported in accordance with iFRS 5, and deferred tax 
assets. the asset’s recoverable amount is calculated if there is 
any indication of impairment. there is an exception made for 
certain	assets	(above)	and	such	assets	are	tested	according	to	
the relevant standard. 
 the recoverable amount is calculated annually for any good-
will or intangible assets with an uncertain useful life and intan-
gible assets that are not yet available for use. if, when testing for 
impairment,	the	future	expected	cash	flow	for	a	particular	asset	
can not be determined with reasonable certainty, then the test 
is made on the cash generating unit, i.e., the smallest group of 
assets to which that asset belongs. impairment loss is recorded 
whenever the carrying amount for an asset or cash generating 
unit exceeds the recoverable amount. impairment losses are 

recorded in the income statement. Any impairment loss on as-
sets	that	belong	to	a	cash	generating	unit	are	allocated	first	to	
goodwill. then, a proportional write-down is made on the other 
assets	belonging	to	the	cash	generating	unit	(group	of	units).

(i) Calculating recoverable amount
the recoverable amount on the following types of assets is 
calculated	as	the	present	value	of	expected	future	cash	flows,	
discounted	by	the	effective	interest	rate	when	the	asset	was	first	
recorded:		held-to-maturity	investments,	loans	and	receivables	
(amortized	cost	value).	Short-term	assets	are	not	discounted.	
the recoverable amount on other assets is either the fair value 
less	selling	expenses	or	the	value-in-use	(whichever	is	higher).	
In	calculating	the	fair	value,	future	expected	cash	flows	are	
discounted by a factor that takes into consideration the risk-free 
interest rate along with the risk associated with that particular 
asset. the recoverable amount for the cash generating unit is 
calculated for essentially independent assets belonging to the 
unit	that	do	not	generate	an	expected	future	cash	flow	of	their	
own.

(ii) Reversal of impairment loss
For held-to-maturity investments along with loans and receiv-
ables	(amortized	cost	value),	a	reversal	of	impairment	loss	is	
made if a subsequent increase in the recoverable amount can 
objectively be attributed to an event that occurred after the 
write-down was performed.
 A reversal of impairment loss on goodwill is never allowed.
 Reversal of impairment loss on other assets is made if there is 
a change in the assumptions that formed the basis for calculat-
ing the recoverable amount.
 impairment loss is only reversed to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount after the reversal does not exceed the carrying 
amount that the asset would have had if a write-down had not 
been	performed	(taking	into	consideration	any	depreciation	that	
would	have	been	made).

(p) Capital stock
(i) Dividends
Dividends are reported as a liability as soon as the dividend has 
been approved at the Annual general Meeting.

(q) Earnings per share
the calculation of earnings per share is based on the group’s 
profit/loss	for	the	year	attributable	to	the	Parent	Company’s	
shareholders and based on the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding during the year. in calculating earnings per 
share	after	dilution,	an	adjustment	is	made	to	profit/loss	for	the	
year and the average number of shares outstanding in order to 
take into account the effects of a possible dilution of common 
stock from options that were issued to employees during the 
period(s).

(r) Employee benefits
(i) Defined contribution plans
Obligations	for	defined	contribution	benefit	plans	are	expensed	
as incurred in the income statement.

(ii) Defined benefit plans
Prevas primarily uses itP insurance with Alecta to provide retire-
ment pensions and family pensions for salaried employees. Ac-
cording to a statement from the Swedish Financial Accounting 
Standards council’s emerging issues task Force, itP insurance 
with	Alecta	should	be	reported	as	a	defined	contribution	pen-

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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sion plan. the argument provided for this decision is that, in 
view of the design of the itP plan, there are no opportunities to 
calculate	surpluses	or	deficits	within	the	plan	and	their	possible	
impact on future premiums.

(iii) Stock-related compensation
An employee stock option program enables employees to 
obtain shares in the company. the employee stock option 
program that is currently in place at Prevas was adopted before 
november 7, 2002 and in accordance with iFRS 1 and iFRS 2, 
no personnel costs have been recorded for options that were 
allocated before that date. During 2008, several options for the 
same program were allocated to senior executives at Prevas. For 
these options, the fair value was recorded as part of personnel 
costs along with a corresponding increase in equity. the fair 
value of the allocated options was calculated using the Black-
Scholes model.
 Social security contributions for stock-related compensation 
to employees have been expensed in the same period for which 
such services were rendered. the provision for social security 
contributions is based on the fair value of the options at the 
time of the report. the fair value of allocated options was calcu-
lated using the Black-Scholes model.

(iv) Pay related to notice of termination
A provision may be required in connection with the notice for 
termination of employment.  this is the case only when it can 
be demonstrated that the company has been obligated to pre-
maturely terminate employment or when compensation is given 
to encourage the employee to voluntarily terminate his/her em-
ployment. in those instances when the company gives notice of 
termination, a detailed plan must be made that includes at least 
the	following	items:		place(s)	of	work,	job	description(s),	and	the	
approximate number of employees that are affected, along with 
the compensation related to each personnel category or job 
description.  An implementation schedule for the plan must also 
be provided.

(s) Provisions
Provisions	are	defined	as	liabilities	that	are	uncertain	with	
regards to either the amount or date when they will be settled. 
Warranty costs are reported in the balance sheet as provisions. 
Provisions are made for both the estimated cost of known 
warranty issues and the estimated cost for additional warranty 
issues	that	are	still	unknown	(based	on	historical	data).

(t) Income tax
total tax is comprised of current tax and deferred tax. income 
taxes are reported in the income statement, except when the 
underlying transaction is reported directly against equity. in such 
instances, the tax effect is also reported as part of equity.
 current tax is the tax that will be paid or refunded based on 
the current year. current tax also includes adjustments to taxes 
paid in prior periods.
 Deferred tax is calculated using the balance sheet approach. 
this involves determining the tax base of assets and liabilities in 
order to calculate temporary differences.  temporary differences 
are not taken into account in consolidated goodwill.
 the deferred tax calculation is based on the tax rates and tax 
regulations that have been decided or announced at year-end.
 Deferred tax assets pertaining to deductible temporary dif-
ferences are only reported to the extent that they are likely to 
result in lower tax payments in the future.

(u) Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is reported when there is a possible 
commitment deriving from events that have occurred whose 
existence	can	only	be	confirmed	if	one	or	more	uncertain	future	
events occur.  A contingent liability is also reported when there 
is a commitment that has not been reported as a liability or 
entered	as	a	provision	because	it	is	not	certain	that	an	outflow	
of resources will be required.

Parent Company accounting principles
the Parent company has prepared its annual report in accor-
dance	with	the	Annual	Accounts	Act	(1995:1554)	and	the	Swed-
ish Financial Accounting Standards council’s recommendation 
RFR	2:1,	Accounting	for	Legal	Entities.	The	company	has	also	
applied SFASc statements that are applicable to listed compa-
nies. As a result of RFR 2.1, the Parent company, as the legal 
entity, must apply all of the iFRS and statements adopted by 
the eU, to the extent that this is possible within the framework 
of the Annual Accounts Act, the Act on Safeguarding Pension 
obligations and taking into account the correlation between 
accounting and taxation. the recommendation states which 
exceptions and additions to the iFRS may be made.
 Differences between the accounting principles used by the 
Group	and	those	used	by	the	Parent	Company	are	specified	
below. the accounting principles described below that were 
used by the Parent company have been consistently applied to 
all	periods	that	are	reported	in	the	Parent	Company’s	financial	
statements.

Classification and presentation
the presentation of the Parent company’s income statement 
and balance sheet conforms with the Annual Accounts Act. the 
difference between this and iAS 1, Presentation of Financial 
Statements, which was used for the presentation of the group’s 
financial	statements,	has	primarily	to	do	with	how	the	following	
items	are	reported:	capitalized	work	on	own	account	in	the	
income	statement,	financial	income	and	expenses,	equity	and	
provisions as a separated heading in the balance sheet.

Subsidiaries
Participations in subsidiaries are reported by the Parent com-
pany according to the acquisition value method. Dividends 
received are reported as revenue only if they derive from ear-
nings accrued after the acquisition. Dividends exceeding these 
accrued earnings are regarded as repayment of investments and 
reduce the carrying amount of the shareholdings. 

Long-term monetary balances
long-term monetary balances between the Parent company 
and its independent foreign operations that represent an 
expansion or reduction in the Parent company’s investment in 
such foreign operations are valued at the historical rate in the 
Parent	Company	financial	statements.

Anticipated dividends
Anticipated dividends from foreign subsidiaries are reported 
only in those instances when the Parent company has the sole 
authority to determine the dividend amount and has made such 
decision	before	publishing	its	financial	statements.

Financial instruments
the Parent company has chosen to apply chapter 4, Section 
14 a-e of the Annual Accounts Act regarding the fair value va-
luation	of	certain	financial	instruments.		For	Prevas,	this	implies	
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that the accounting principles used by the Parent company are 
essentially consistent with those used by the group.

Leased assets
the Parent company reports all of its leasing agreements in 
accordance with the rules on operating leases.

Intangible assets
Goodwill
goodwill is amortized in the Parent company. goodwill is de-
preciated with a useful life of 5 years.
Taxes
Deferred tax liability is included in untaxed reserves in the Pa-
rent	Company	financial	statements.	In	the	consolidated	financial	
statements, untaxed reserves are divided up as deferred tax 
liability and equity.

Group and shareholder contributions for legal entities
in the Parent company, group contributions and shareholder 
contributions are reported in accordance with the statement 
from the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards council. 
Shareholder contributions are reported directly to the recipient’s 
equity and are capitalized in the donor’s shares and participa-

tions, to the extent that no write-down is required. group contri-
butions	are	reported	in	accordance	with	their	financial	implica-
tion. this means that group contributions granted in order to 
minimize the group’s total tax must be reported directly against 
retained earnings, less the current tax effect. group contribu-
tions that are essentially dividends are reported as dividends. 
this means that group contributions received by the Parent 
company are reported in the income statement, along with the 
current tax effect. group contributions along with the current 
tax effect are reported directly against retained earnings.
 group contributions that are essentially shareholder contribu-
tions	are	reported	in	the	recipient’s	financial	statements	along	
with the current tax effect, directly against retained earnings. 
the contributor shows group contributions along with the 
current tax effect as participations in group companies, to the 
extent that no write-down is required.
 Koncernbidrag som är att jämställa med aktieägartillskott re-
dovisas, med beaktande av aktuell skatteeffekt, hos mottagaren 
direkt mot balanserade vinstmedel. givaren redovisar koncern-
bidraget och dess aktuella skatteeffekt som investering i andelar 
i	koncernföretag,	i	den	mån	nedskrivning	ej	erfordras.

Segment reporting is made for the group’s business units and geographic regions. intra-group transfer pricing has been based on the arm’s 
length principle, which means that transactions between segments are always made at the going market rate.
 
GROUP, Primary Segments – Business Units (business areas)
the group’s management accounting system is designed to derive information on the return made on group products and services.  Ac-
cordingly,	business	units	(the	Group’s	business	areas)	are	the	primary	basis	of	classification.	The	Prevas	business	areas	are	Industrial	Systems	
and Product Development. For industrial Systems, Prevas offers industry knowledge and it solutions within the areas of automation, 
logistics	and	traceability.	For	Product	Development,	Prevas	offers	a	variety	of	services	to	develop	intelligent	products	that	are	profitable	to	
its customers. to the extent possible, the group’s assets and liabilities have been allocated to each business area. items that have not been 
allocated are deferred tax assets, current and long-term interest-bearing liabilities and deferred tax liabilities. these are reported under 
non-allocated items.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2  SEGMENT REPORTING

Product Development Industrial Systems Non-Allocated Items The Group

k S E K ,  G r o u p 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

i n c o M e

Sales to external customers 463,868 364,027 151,819 106,884 – – 615,687 470,911

operating expenses excluding Depreciation –412,587 –334,207 –119,997 –99,749 – – –532,584 –433,956

Amortization/impairment of intangible 
Assets –3,433 –3,079 –3,094 –9,612 – – –6,527 –12,691

Depreciation of Property, Plant and 
equipment –4,592 –3,481 –1,663 –1,750 – – –6,255 –5,231

EBIT 43,256 23,260 27,065 –4,227 – – 70,321 19,033

Operating Margin 9.3 % 6.4 % 17.8 % –4.0 % – – 11.4 % 4.0 %

A S S e t S  A n D  l i A B i l i t i e S

intangible Assets 104,459 93,148 26,344 29,386 – – 130,803 122,534

Property, Plant and equipment 11,331 12,171 3,777 4,178 – – 15,108 16,349

other Assets 130,015 104,742 43,338 32,578 646 1,615 173,999 138,934

Total Assets 245,805 210,061 73,459 66,142 646 1,615 319,910 277,817

Total Liabilities 76,585 81,115 25,529 20,872 36,548 48,905 138,662 150,892

Investments 15,355 33,080 1,686 8,924 – – 17,041 42,004

THE GROUP, Secondary Segments, Geographic Regions
The	Group’s	secondary	segments	are	divided	into	three	geographic	regions:	Denmark,	Norway	and	Sweden.	The	information	presented	
on segment income is regarding geographic regions that are grouped according to the location of each company that has sales activities. 
Information	on	a	segment’s	assets	and	investments	in	tangible	and	intangible	fixed	assets	during	the	period	are	based	upon	the	geographic	
region and grouped according to the location of such assets. 
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NOTE 3  ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS

S w e d e n D e n m a r k N o r w a y T h e  G r o u p

k S e K 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

external income 498,704 401,861 92,820 63,943 24,163 5,107 615,687 470,911

Assets 270,672 239,840 39,394 27,618 9,844 4,215 319,910 277,817

investmenst 14,699 12,799 2,337 916 5 139 17,041 13,854

PARENT COMPANY, Segment Reporting
the Parent company’s management accounting system is designed to derive information on the return made on Parent company products 
and	services.		Accordingly,	business	units	(the	Parent	Company’s	business	areas)	are	the	primary	basis	of	classification.	The	Parent	Com-
pany’s	secondary	segments	are	divided	into	two	geographic	regions:	Sweden	and	outside	Sweden.	The	information	presented	on	segment	
income pertains to the geographic regions, which are grouped according to where customers are located.

Primary Segments per Business Area Product Development Industrial Systems The Parent Company

k S e K 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

net Sales 371,989 294,414 130,319 103,772 502,308 398,186

Sekundära segment per geografiskt område Sweden Outside Sweden The Parent Company

k S e K 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

net Sales 461,567 363,874 40,741 34,312 502,308 398,186

In	2008,	Prevas	acquired	Emfila	Software	AB	in	Lund,	a	company	with	15	employees.	Emfila	Software	AB	has	specialist	expertise	in	embed-
ded systems and telecommunications. it is included in the Product Development business area.  the acquisition includes all of the shares in 
Emfila	Software	AB	and	payment	consisted	of	106,733	newly	issued	Prevas	shares	valued	at	SEK	2.5	million	on	the	effective	date,	along	with	
a	cash	payment	of	SEK	4.6	million.	Additional	remuneration	will	be	based	on	such	items	as	profit	outcome,	but	the	total	may	not	exceed	
SeK 7.0 million. the new issue of shares was in accordance with the vote taken at the Annual general Meeting on 31 March 2008.

the acquired unit was consolidated on 1 october and is expected to contribute SeK 16 million in annual sales, with an estimated operating 
margin of 12 percent.

Additional purchase price on previous acquisitions 
During 2008, there was payment of additional purchase price on previous acquisitions amounting to SeK 13.5 million, of which SeK 11.9 
million was reported as a liability in conjunction with the closing of the books on 2007-12-31. For some of the acquisitions that were made 
during 2007, the sellers are entitled to a potential additional purchase price, which is partially based upon earnings achieved. Prevas may 
pay any additional purchase price in either Prevas shares or cash. it is estimated that additional purchase price payments will not exceed 
SeK 20.0 million. Due to the uncertainty of amounts, potential additional purchase price payments have not been recorded. A smaller por-
tion will fall due during 2009. the remaining amounts fall due during the next two years.

Effects of acquisitions made in 2008
Acquisitions made during 2008 have had the following effects on group assets and liabilities.

Effects of acquisitions made in 2007
Acquisitions made during 2007 have had the following effects on group assets and liabilities.

kSEK
 

Emfila Software AB
Additional purchase

 price
Total Value of 

Acquisition

Acquisition Date 1 oct

Accounts Receivable and other Receivables 3,419 3,419

cash equivalents 537 537

Accounts Payable and other liabilities –2,334 –2,334

Net Identifiable Assets and Liabilities 1,622 1,622

goodwill 5,478 13,457 18,935

Acquisition Cost 7,100 13,457 20,557

Minus:

Cash	(acquisition) 537 – 537

newly issued Shares 2,485 – 2,485

Net Cash Flow –4,078 –13,457 –17,535

goodwill represents primarily the value to be derived from synergies between operations and employees’ technical expertise. Following the 
acquisition,	Emfila	Software	contributed	SEK	2.6	million	in	sales	and	SEK	0.3	million	to	EBIT.
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t k r

Business
 operations

 from Teleca
IO Technol-

ogies A/S
Mikon AS, 

Norway
Flextronics, 

Gothenburg

Other
 Acqui-

tions

Total 
Value of 

Acquitions

Acquisition Date 1 jan 1 Feb 1 Aug 1 nov

Property, Plant and equipment 64 72 498 638 343 1,615

Deferred tax liability – 1,308 723 0 0 2,031

Accounts Receivable and other Receivables 430 9,313 2,250 0 2,303 14,296

cash equivalents – 912 3,023 0 2,282 6,217

Accounts Payable and other liabilities –8,515 –5,388 –2,146 –2,563 –4,723 –23,335

Fair Value Adjustment of intangible Assets 3,400 4,583 2,917 0 353 11,253

Fair Value Adjustment of current Provisions –774 –2,508 0 0 –2,857 –6,139

Fair Value Adjustment of Deferred tax – –1,138 –817 0 682 –1,273

Net Identifiable Assets and Liabilities –5,395 7,154 6,448 –1,925 –1,617 4,665

goodwill 29,139 10,894 6,592 5,143 7,280 59,048

Acquisition Cost 23,744 18,048 13,040 3,218 5,663 63,713

Minus:

Cash	(acquisition) – 912 3,023 – 2,282 6,217

newly issued Shares – 17,631 7,480 – 4,235 29,346

Net Cash Flow –23,744 495 –2,537 –3,218 854 –28,150

2 0 0 8 2007

Women Men Total Women Men Total

AV e R A g e  n U M B e R  o F  e M P l o y e e S
Parent Company Sweden 48 362 410 48 328 376

Total in Parent Company 48 362 410 48 328 376

Subsidiaries Sweden 4 15 19 3 10 13

Denmark 4 75 79 1 55 56

norway – 9 9 – 3 3

Total in Subsidiaries 8 99 107 4 68 72

Total, Group 56 461 517 52 396 448

NOTE 4  EMPLOYEE AND PERSONNEL COST

goodwill represents primarily the value to be derived from synergies between operations and employees’ technical expertise.

The Group The Parent Company

k S e K 2008 2007 2008 2007

R e P o R t i n g  o n  g e n D e R  D i S t R i B U t i o n  i n  S e n i o R  M A n A g e M e n t

Board of Directors, Women 18	% 14	% 29	% 20	%

Senior Management, Women 0	% 0	% 0	% 0	%

S A l A R i e S ,  o t h e R  R e M U n e R A t i o n  A n D  P A y R o l l  o V e R h e A D  e x P e n S e S

Salaries and other Remuneration 280,935 233,103 213,076 186,172

Payroll overhead incl. Pension 107,734 97,599 94,807 91,853

   of which Pension costs 32,657 34,229 24,962 31,376

2008 2007

Board, CEO Other Board, CEO Other

S A l A R i e S  A n D  o t h e R  R e M U n e R A t i o n  B y  c o U n t R y
The Parent Company Sweden 3,546 209,530 2,600 183,572

  of which, Bonuses and Similar items 326 1,754 – 250

Subsidiaries Sweden 486 10,011 516 6,537

  of which, Bonuses and Similar items – – – –

Denmark 1,805 47,599 1,255 35,911

  of which, Bonuses and Similar items 185 724 500 328

norway 1,393 6,565 611 2,101

  of which, Bonuses and Similar items 199 542 132 –

Total, Group 7,230 273,705 4,982 228,121
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k S e K
Base Salary/

Board Fee

Variable  
Remunera-

tion
Financial  

Instruments
Other  

Benefits
Pension 

Costs Total

R e M U n e R A t i o n  A n D  o t h e R  B e n e F i t S ,  P A R e n t  c o M P A n y  2 0 0 8

chairman of the Board 720 119 839
non-executive Directors 580 580
   claes Dinkelspiel 80
   Bernt ericson 80
   lisbeth gustafsson 80
   erik hallberg 80
   christina liffner 80
   Stieg Westin 120
			Ulrika	Grönberg 60
Chief	Executive	Officer	* 1,920 326 157 65 669 3,137
other Senior executive, 6 persons 6,142 625 470 488 1,087 8,812
   remuneration from the Parent company 4,523 440 392 310 1,006
   remuneration from Subsidiaries 1,619 185 78 178 81

Total 9,362 951 627 553 1,875 13,368

Share-Related Remunerations
At the general meeting of stockholders on March 20, 2002 an employee stock option program totaling 375,000 employee options and 
125,000 other options was approved.  All of Prevas’ employees are entitled to participate in the program. the allocation is made free of pay-
ment and makes up a portion of each employee’s total compensation. each option entitles the holder to acquire one newly issued class B 
share in Prevas. the issue price is SeK 15 per share, which is based on the average price paid per share during the period March 6-19, 2002.
	 As	of	May	15,	2003,	the	owner	of	the	options	is	entitled	to	exercise	25%	of	total	that	were	distributed.		Afterwards,	another	25%	are	
earned for each 12-month period of service. the right to exercise options that were distributed as part of the employee stock option 
program extends through May 31, 2009. if the owner of the options voluntarily terminates employment at Prevas, the last day to exercise 
options is 30 days after the date of termination. When Prevas issues a notice of termination to an employee, the last day to exercise any op-
tions is one year after the date of termination.

Senior executives and the Board of Directors
Remuneration to the chairman of the Board and the Board of Directors is paid in accordance with a resolution adopted at the Annual gen-
eral Meeting. no separate fee is paid for committee work. employee representatives do not receive a Board fee.
	 Remuneration	for	the	CEO	and	other	senior	executives	consists	of	basic	salary,	variable	remuneration,	other	benefits,	a	pension	and	
financial	instruments.	The	salary	and	incentive	schemes	for	the	CEO	and	other	senior	executives	was	approved	by	the	2008	AGM.	”Other	
senior executives” refers to the individuals, who, together with the ceo make up the company’s senior management team. For more infor-
mation on the composition of the company’s senior management team, see page 61 and note 30.
 the division between basic salary and variable remuneration is proportionate with the responsibilities and authority of each position. 
Variable remuneration for the ceo was based on the eBit for Prevas AB during 2008.
	 For	other	senior	executives,	variable	remuneration	could	not	exceed	17%	of	base	salary.	For	2008,	such	amounts	were	based	50%	on	
Prevas	AB’s	EBIT	and	50%	on	the	outcome	for	each	individual’s	area	of	responsibility.
 the ceo is required to give at least six month’s notice for the termination of employment. the company is required to issue its notice 
of termination to the ceo at least 18 months in advance. other senior executives in the Parent company and the group have standard 
employment conditions and notice terms that may not exceed 12 months. the ceo and other senior executives are entitled to pension 
benefits	that	correspond	with	the	standard	ITP	insurance	plan.	The	retirement	age	for	the	CEO	and	other	senior	executives	is	65.

R e M U n e R A t i o n  A n D  o t h e R  B e n e F i t S ,  P A R e n t  c o M P A n y  2 0 0 7

chairman of the Board 720 119 839
non-executive Directors 580 580
   claes Dinkelspiel 80
   Bernt ericson 80
   lisbeth gustafsson 80
   erik hallberg 80
   christina liffner 80
   Stieg Westin 120
			Ulrika	Grönberg 60

Chief	Executive	Officer 1,300 82 316 1,698
			Anders	Englund	(0701-0711) 1,210 78 291
			Mats	Lundberg	(0712-0712) 90 4 25

other Senior executive, 4 persons 3,510 224 190 886 4,810

Summa 6,110 224 272 1,321 7 ,927
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S i c K  l e A V e 2008 2007

total sick leave as a percentage of regular working hours 1.8 1.8

Percentage of total sick leave that represents at least 

60 consecutive sick leave days or more 18.3 24.6

–	sick	leave	for	men,	% 1.7 1.5

–	sick	leave	for	women,	% 2.8 3.6

–	employees	under	the	age	of	30,	% 1.6 1.7

–	employees	between	the	ages	of	30	-	49,	% 2.0 1.8

–	employees	over	the	age	of	50,	% 1.1 1.6

Note 4, cont.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007 2008 2007

KPMG Auditors’ Fees 662 636 390 364

other Fees 338 290 160 185

Other Audit Firms Audit – – – –

other Fees 84 261 84 255

Audit	fees	include	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements,	accounting	records	and	the	administration	of	the	Board	of	Directors	and	the	CEO,	
as well as other duties that the company’s auditor is obliged to conduct and advice or other assistance resulting from observations made 
during the audit or performance of these other duties. Any other services provided are included in ”other fees.”

T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007

interest income 920 634

changes in exchange Rates 287 –

Financial Income 1,207 634

interest expenses on Financial liabilities Valued at Amortized cost –2,300 –2,103

change in Fair Value of Financial Assets held for trading –127 –739

changes in exchange Rates –213 –

Financial Expenses –2,640 –2,842

Net Financial Items –1,433 –2,208

NOTE 5  AUDITORS’ FEES AND EXPENSES

NOTE 6  NET FINANCIAL ITEMS

 the aim of the scheme is to create a sense of involvement throughout the company in the earnings trend and thereby help retain exper-
tise.
	 At	the	beginning	of	2008,	a	total	of	136,700	options	had	been	allocated	to	employees	and	100%	of	these	options	could	be	exercised.	
During 2008, a total of 20,500 options were given back in conjunction with the termination of employment and a total of 125,000 new op-
tions	were	allocated.	At	the	end	of	2008,	there	were	155,500	outstanding	options	that	could	be	exercised	at	100%.	During	2008,	employees	
subscribed to 85,700 new shares.
 See page 61 for more information on the share holdings of senior executives.

T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

T k r Profit/Loss from Participations in Group Companies

2008 2007

Dividend from Shares in Subsidiaries 2,904 7,484

loss on Sale of Subsidiaries –385 –101

Write-Down of Shares in Subsidiaries –10,635 –28,264

Total –8,116 –20,881
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T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K Other Interest Income and Similar Profit/Loss Items

2008 2007

Exchange	Profit,	Parent	Company 286 –

Other	Exchange	Profit 49 –

interest income, group companies 52 89

other interest income 131 394

Summa 518 483

T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K Interest Expenses and Similar Items

2008 2007

exchange loss, Parent company –380 –

change in Fair Value of Financial Assets held for trading –27 –

interest expenses –66 –

other interest expenses –1,536 –1,604

Summa –2,009 –1,604

T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007

tax Allocation Reserve, Provision for the year –12,750 –

tax Allocation Reserve, Reversal for the year – 1,810

T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007 2008 2007

R e P o R t e D  i n  t h e  i n c o M e  S t A t e M e n t
Current Tax

tax expense for the Period –13,689 –1,736 –10,755 –1,541

Deferred Tax

  Deferred tax regarding temporary differences –1,461 –3,365 – –

  Deferred tax regarding untaxed reserves –3,570 – – –

  change in deferred tax on new tax rate 561 –149 – –

  change in deferred tax regarding loss carry-Forward –659 – – –

Total Reported Income Tax –18,818 –5,250 –10,755 –1,541

RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX

Profit/Loss	before	Tax 68,888 16,825 29,116 –16,455

Parent	Company	Tax,	Applicable	Rate	28	% –19,289 –4,711 –8,152 4,607

Write-Down of Shares in Subsidiaries – – –2,978 –7,914

effect of other tax Rates for Foreign Subsidiaries 209 208 – –

effect Due to changes in tax Rates for Foreign Subsidiaries – –149 – –

Effect	Due	to	Change	of	Tax	Rate	in	Sweden	from	28	to	26,3	% 561 – – –

other non-Deductible expenses –298 –332 –330 –289

non-taxable income 1 57 813 2,096

Profit/Loss	on	Sale	of	Subsidiaries – – –108 –28

Standard interest on tax Allocation Reserve –2 –46 – –13

Revaluation of loss carry-Forward Deduction – –277 – –

Reported Tax –18,818 –5,250 –10,755 –1,541

NOTE 7  APPROPRIATIONS

NOTE 8  TAXES

Note 6, cont.
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T h e  G r o u p

k S E K Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred Tax 

Liability Net

R e P o R t e D  i n  t h e  B A l A n c e  S h e e t 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

intangible Assets – – –7,437 –6,159 –7,437 –6,159

Property, Plant and equipment 610 845 – – 610 845

Untaxed Reserves – – –3,353 – –3,353 –

current Receivables/liabilities – 89 –10 – –10 89

Provisions 101 22 – – 101 22

loss carry-Forward Deductions – 659 – – – 659

Tax Receivables/Liabilities 711 1,615 –10,800 –6,159 –10,089 –4,544

Kvittning –65 – 65 – – –

Tax Receivables/Liabilities 646 1,615 –10,735 –6,159 –10,089 –4,544

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

T h e  G r o u p

k S E K 2008-12-31 2007-12-31

e A R n i n g S  P e R  S h A R e  B e F o R e  D i l U t i o n
net income for the Period, kSeK 50,070 11,575

Average no. of Shares before Dilution, in thousands 9,808 9,467

Earnings Per Share before Dilution, SEK 5.11 1.22

e A R n i n g S  P e R  S h A R e  A F t e R  D i l U t i o n
net income for the Period, kSeK 50,070 11,575

Average no. of Shares after Dilution, in thousands 9,934 9,557

Earnings Per Share after Dilution, SEK 5.04 1.21

NOTE 9  PROFIT PER SHARE

Note 8, cont.

NOTE 10  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

T h e  G r o u p

T k r Goodwil l
Development 

Expenses
Other Intang-

ible Items  Total

A c c U M U l A t e D  A c Q U i S i t i o n  c o S t S
opening Balance 01-01-2007 25,001 17,716 13,174 55,891

Business Acquisitions including Additional Purchase Price 70,882 11,252 82,134

Disposals – –3,607 – –3,607

internally Developed Assets – 5,078 – 5,078

exchange Rate Differences 565 – 238 803

Closing Balance 31-12-2007 96,448 19,187 24,664 140,299

A c c U M U l A t e D  D e P R e c i A t i o n / A M o R t i Z A t i o n  A n D  i M P A i R M e n t
opening Balance 01-01-2007 – –5,111 –3,553 –8,664

Disposals – 3,590 – 3,590

Depreciation for the year – –4,899 –4,092 –8,991

Write-Downs for the year – –3,700 – –3,700

Closing Balance 31-12-2007 – –10,120 –7,645 –17,765

Carrying Amounts as of 31-12-2007 96,448 9,067 17,019 122,534

* * *

*)	2007	items	have	been	reclassified	and	clarified.

the 2007 write-downs of SeK 3 700 applies to products in the Business area industrial Systems due to products that not will yield any future 
revenues.
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T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

T k r Goodwil l
Development 

Expenses
Other Intang-

ible Items  Total

A c c U M U l A t e D  A c Q U i S i t i o n  c o S t S
opening Balance 01-01-2008 38,709 19,187 5,739 63,635

investments –156 – 1,600 1,444

Disposals – – – 0

internally Developed Assets – 1,879 – 1,879

Closing Balance 31-12-2008 38,553 21,066 7,339 66,958

A c c U M U l A t e D  D e P R e c i A t i o n / A M o R t i Z A t i o n  A n D  i M P A i R M e n t
opening Balance 01-01-2008 –8,502 –10,120 –2,966 –21,588

Disposals – – – 0

Depreciation for the year –7,384 –2,681 –1,039 –11,104

Closing Balance 31-12-2008 –15,886 –12,801 –4,005 –32,695

Carrying Amounts as of 31-12-2008 22,667 8,265 3,334 34,266

Note 10, cont.

T h e  G r o u p

T k r Goodwil l
Development 

Expenses
Other Intang-

ible Items  Total

A c c U M U l A t e D  A c Q U i S i t i o n  c o S t S
opening Balance 01-01-2008 96,448 19,187 24,664 140,299

Business Acquisitions including Additional Purchase Price 7,229 – – 7,229

Acquistions for the year –156 – 1,645 1,489

internally Developed Assets – 3,158 – 3,158

exchange Rate Differences 2,421 178 300 2,899

Closing Balance 31-12-2008 105,942 22,523 26,630 155,095

A c c U M U l A t e D  D e P R e c i A t i o n / A M o R t i Z A t i o n  A n D  i M P A i R M e n t
opening Balance 01-01-2008 – –10,120 –7,645 –17,765

Depreciation for the year – –2,681 –3,846 –6,527

Closing Balance 31-12-2008 – –12,801 –11,491 –24,292

Carrying Amounts as of 31-12-2008 105,942 9,722 15,139 130,803

Other Intangible Assets
other intangible assets includes primarily the value of our customer relations and technology. All intangible assets, except goodwill, are 
amortized. For more information about depreciation and amortization, see note 1, accounting principles.

Test of impairment for cash generating units containing goodwill
of the group’s goodwill, SeK 89,199 thousand is related to the primary segment, Product Development and SeK 16,743 thousand is related 
to the primary segment, industrial Systems.  the impairment test was based on the calculation of useful value. this value is derived from 
20-year	cash	flow	forecasts	based	on	the	3-year	business	plan	and	assuming	2	percent	annual	growth.	The	present	value	of	the	future	
expected	cash	flows	has	been	calculated	using	an	after	tax	discount	rate	of	9.2	percent.
. 

T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

T k r Goodwil l
Development 

Expenses
Other Intang-

ible Items  Total

A c c U M U l A t e D  A c Q U i S i t i o n  c o S t S
opening Balance 01-01-2007 2,380 17,716 3,389 23,485

investments 35,279 – 3,400 38,679

Disposals – –3,607 – –3,607

Reclassifications 1,050 – –1,050 0

internally Developed Assets – 5,078 – 5,078

Closing Balance 31-12-2007 38,709 19,187 5,739 63,635

A c c U M U l A t e D  D e P R e c i A t i o n / A M o R t i Z A t i o n  A n D  i M P A i R M e n t
opening Balance 01-01-2007 –1,906 –5,111 –1,395 –8,412

Disposals – 3,607 – 3,607

Depreciation for the year –6,596 –4,961 –1,571 –13,083

Write-Downs for the year – –3,700 – –3,700

Closing Balance 31-12-2007 –8,502 –10,120 –2,966 –21,588

Carrying Amounts as of 31-12-2007 30,207 9,067 2,773 42,047
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Development costs brought forward depreciate from the point when the product version is complete or, if this happens earlier, when the 
product is taken into operation.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 11  PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

K S E K 2008 2007 2008 2007

Equipment

A c c U M U l A t e D  A c Q U i S i t i o n  c o S t S

opening Balance 39,366 26,231 16,962 9,979

Acquired via Business Acquisitions – 7,395 373 1,735

Acquistions for the year 5,165 7,890 2,324 5,248

exchange Rate Differences –151 – – –

Sales and Disposals for the year – –2,150 – –

Closing Balance 44,380 39,366 19,659 16,962

A c c U M U l A t e D  D e P R e c i A t i o n / A M o R t i Z A t i o n  A n D  i M P A i R M e n t

opening Balance –23,017 –15,044 –8,910 –5,617

Accumulated Amortization Attributable to company Acquisitions – –2,748 – –

correction for Sales/disposals – 6 – –

Depreciation for the year –6,255 –5,231 –3,859 –3,293

Closing Balance –29,272 –23,017 –12,769 –8,910

Carrying Amounts 15,108 16,349 6,890 8,052

The Group
FinAnce leASeS
The	Group	reported	equipment	that	was	obtained	through	finance	leasing	valued	at	SEK	6,446	(6,625)	thousand.	Future	lease	payment	
obligations are reported in the group’s balance sheet under current and non-current liabilities.

T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K
Receivables from Group 

Companies

2008 2007

Receivables from Subsidiaries 907 3,529

NOTE 12  RECEIVABLES FROM GROUP COMPANIES

Note 10, cont.

T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

T k r 2008 2007 2008 2007

l o n g - t e R M  R e c e i V A B l e S
Derivates held for hedging Purposes 240 266 240 266

NOTE 13  LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

NOTE 14  INVENTORIES

T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007 2008 2007

Finished goods and goods for Resale 1,434 656 – –
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NOTE 15  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007 2008 2007

c R e D i t  R i S K  e x P o S U R e
Accounts Receivable 119,680 94,485 90,219 71,643

Total 119,680 94,485 90,219 71,643

A c c o U n t S  R e c e i V A B l e  A g i n g  R e P o R t  o n  A M o U n t S  n o t  y e t  W R i t t e n  D o W n
Accounts receivable not yet due 96,273 74,461 83,373 64,159

outstanding accounts receivable 0 - 30 days 11,651 11,830 4,254 4,211

outstanding accounts receivable 30 - 90 days 6,115 4,636 1,978 904

outstanding accounts receivable 90 - 180 days 3,001 1,688 118 756

outstanding accounts receivable 180 - 360 days 1,737 1,641 474 1,385

outstanding receivables > 360 days 903 228 22 228

Total 119,680 94,485 90,219 71,643

c R e D i t  e x P o S U R e  g e o g R A P i c A l l y
Sweden 85,426 69,827 84,008 66,832

Rest of nordic Region 29,253 19,922 1,625 914

europe 2,115 2,378 2,039 1,908

USA 99 1,343 99 1,328

South America 0 45 0 45

Asia 2,448 615 2,448 615

Africa 339 354 – –

Total 119,680 94,485 90,219 71,643

NOTE 16  PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME

T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007 2008 2007

earned revenue not yet invoiced, customer projects 29,096 27,528 26,447 25,666

other items 5,918 5,855 4,294 4,771

Total 35,014 33,383 30,741 30,437

NOTE 17  CASH EQUIVALENTS

cash equivalents consist of bank deposits and, to a small extent, petty cash. Bank deposits consist of positive bank balances. cash equiva-
lents	are	not	a	reflection	of	the	Group’s	available	funds,	which	is	the	difference	between	its	utilized	credit	and	total	credit	granted	(see	
Note	19).	There	is	very	little	risk	associated	with	cash	equivalents	consisting	of	bank	deposits.

NOTE 18  EQUITY

Accounts	receivable	are	reported	at	an	amount	that	takes	into	consideration	any	bad	debt	loss	for	the	year,	which	amounted	to	SEK	303	(0)	
thousand	in	the	Parent	Company.	The	Group	reported	bad	debt	losses	of	SEK	303	(0)	thousand.
	 For	the	Parent	Company,	the	allowance	for	doubtful	accounts	is	SEK	604	(181)	thousand	and	SEK	825	(231)	thousand	for	the	Group.

c A P i t A l  S t o c K Number of shares

As of 1 january 2008 9,736,577

Utilization of options 115,700

Non-cash	Issue	in	Connection	with	the	Acquisition	of	Emfila	Software	AB 106,733

As of 31 December 2008 9,959,010
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The	share	capital	is	divided	into	820,160	Class	A	shares	(10	votes	per	share)	and	9,138,850	Class	B	shares	(1	vote	per	share).	The	total	num-
ber of shares on 31 December was 9,959,010.  

Dividends
Subsequent	to	the	reporting	date,	the	Board	of	Directors	recommended	payment	of	dividends	equal	to	SEK	1.50	(0.60)	per	share.	During	
2008, the company paid dividends to shareholders equal to SeK 0.60 per share, totaling SeK 5,843 thousand.

Capital management
In	accordance	with	the	Board	of	Directors’	policy,	the	Group’s	financial	goals	consist	of	having	a	capital	structure	and	financial	stability	such	
that	it	is	possible	to	retain	investors,	lenders	and	market	confidence.	In	addition,	capital	management	should	provide	the	basis	for	continu-
ing	to	develop	the	business.	Capital	is	defined	as	total	equity.
	 The	Prevas	policy	is	to	distribute	half	of	after-tax	profits	as	dividends.	The	Board	of	Directors	has	proposed	to	the	2009	AGM	a	dividend	
of	SEK	1.50	per	share,	which	corresponds	to	approximately	8	percent	of	Group	equity	and	30%	of	after-tax	profits.	The	Board’s	proposal	
deviates from Prevas’ dividends policy in order to maintain a strong balance sheet, be able to manage an uncertain market situation in 
2009 and make it possible for the group to take advantage of new investment opportunities.

t h e  g R o U P
Other capital contributions
Refers to equity contributed by the owners. the includes premiums paid in conjunction with new share issues along with the correspond-
ing entry for recorded iFRS 2 expenses. 

Translation reserve
The	translation	reserve	comprises	foreign	currency	differences	arising	from	the	translation	of	the	financial	statements	of	foreign	operations	
that	compiled	their	own	financial	statements	in	a	different	currency	than	that	which	is	used	in	compiling	the	financial	statements	for	the	
Group.		In	the	financial	statements	for	both	the	Parent	Company	and	Group,	amounts	are	in	SEK.	

Retained earnings, including net profit (loss) for the year
Retained	earnings	including	net	profit	for	the	year,	is	comprised	of	the	profits	earned	in	the	Parent	Company	and	its	subsidiaries.	Earlier	
provisions for the statutory reserve, excluding transferred share premium reserves, are included in this equity item.

t h e  PA R e n t  c o M PA n y
Restricted reserves
Restricted reserves may not be reduced by dividends.

Statutory reserve
The	purpose	of	the	statutory	reserve	has	been	to	exclude	a	portion	of	net	profit	from	that	which	may	be	used	to	cover	any	losses	carried	
forward. Amounts that were transferred to the share premium reserve before 1 january 2006 have been transferred and included as part of 
the statutory reserve.

Non-restricted equity
Share premium reserve
Shares are issued at a premium whenever the payment received exceeds the face value for the shares.  the amount received in excess of 
the face value for the shares is kept as part of the share premium reserve. Amounts that were added to the share premium reserve on or 
after 1 january 2006 are included as part of non-restricted equity.

Retained earnings
comprised of the prior year’s unrestricted equity after any distribution of dividends. total non-restricted equity is comprised of retained 
earnings,	profit	for	the	year	and	the	share	premium	reserve.	This	is	also	the	total	amount	available	to	shareholders	as	dividends.

Outstanding options
155 500 employee stock options, issue price SeK 15, exercise period 15 May 2003 through 30 April 2009.
  51 315 other options, issue price SeK 15, exercise period 15 May 2003 through 30 April 2009.

information about the terms and conditions for options is provided in note 4.

Note 18, cont.

NOTE 19  INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES/LIABLITIES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

this note contains information about the company’s contract terms regarding interest bearing liabilities. For more information about the 
company’s interest rate risk exposure and exchange rate risks, see note 23.

T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007 2008 2007

l o n g - t e R M  l i A B i l i t i e S
Bank loan 17,050 19,250 17,050 19,250

Financial lease liability 4,881 4,943 – –

Total 21,931 24,193 17,050 19,250

c U R R e n t  l i A B i l i t i e S
Bank overdraft – 14,649 – 14,649

Bank loan 2,200 2,200 2,200 2,200

current Portion of Financial lease liability 1,682 1,704 – –

Total 3,882 18,553 2,200 16,849
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T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007 2008 2007

P R o V i S i o n S  t h A t  A R e  l o n g - t e R M  l i A B i l i t i e S
Warranty commitments 2,850 372 2,752 372

P R o V i S i o n  F o R  W A R R A n t y  c o M M i t M e n t S
carrying Amount at the Beginning of the Period 372 200 372 200

Provisions Made During the Period 2,478 172 2,380 172

Carrying Amount at the End of the Period 2,850 372 2,752 372

the bank loan has been taken by the Parent company in SeK. Amortization is SeK 2,200 thousand per year and the year of maturity is 
2017. the interest rate on the bank loan is StiBoR + 1 percent. there are no particular obligations associated with the bank loan as the 
result of the credit agreement. limitations exist on both solvency and interest coverage.

As of the balance sheet date, Prevas AB had a bank overdraft facility of SeK 15,000 thousand. After the balance sheet date, the bank over-
draft facility was increased to SeK 35,000 thousand. the bank overdraft facility was unutilized as of the balance sheet date.

The	long-term	portion	of	the	financial	lease	liability	matures	within	1-3	years.	The	leasing	agreement	runs	in	the	Swedish	business.

NOTE 20  PROVISIONS

the warranty provision is primarily related to commitments after project delivery has been made that are in effect a maximum of two years. 
the provision is based on historical warranty data for similar products and services as well as assessments of commitments made regarding 
fixed-price	projects	containing	hardware.

NOTE 21  ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME

T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007 2008 2007

invoiced amount of unearned revenue 6,229 6,144 2,776 5,622

Vacation Salaries, including social charges 17,950 19,140 11,041 12,231

Accrued Salaries, including social charges 6,421 11,658 5,514 12,068

other items 15,594 12,265 11,586 10,512

Total 46,194 49,207 30,917 40,433

NOTE 22  VALUATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE

Held for 

Trading, 

Adjusted to 

Fair Value 

through 

the Income 

Stmnt.

Accounts 

and Loans 

Receiv-

able  

Other  

Liabilities

Total 

Carrying 

Amount Fair Value

Held for 

Trading, 

Adjusted to 

Fair Value 

through 

the Income 

Stmnt.

Accounts 

and Loans 

Receivable  

Other Li-

abilities

Total 

Carrying 

Amount Fair Value

k S E K ,  T h e  G r o u p 2008 2007

long-term Receivables 240 240 240 266 266 266

Accounts Receivable 119,680 119,680 119,680 94,485 94,485 94,485

other Receivables 200 200 200

Total 240 119,680 119,920 119,920 266 94,685 94,951 94,951

long-term 
interest-Bearing liabilities 21,931 21,931 21,931 24,193 24,193 24,193

Short-term 
interest-Bearing liabilities 3,882 3,882 3,882 18,553 18,553

 
18,553

Accounts Payable 18,174 18,174 18,174 15,811 15,811 15,811

Total 43,987 43,987 43,987 58,557 58,557 58,557

Note 19, cont.



F i n A n c i A l  R i S K S
The	Prevas	Group’s	financial	risks	have	been	low.	The	financial	transactions	that	occur	are	solely	to	support	operating	activities	and	there	are	
no transactions conducted for speculative purposes. 
 Financial instruments consist primarily of a loan for SeK 19.25 million, an utilized bank overdraft, cash equivalents, accounts receivable 
and accounts payable.

l i Q U i D i t y  A n D  c A S h  F l o W  R i S K S
Liquidity	and	cash	flow	risks	refer	to	the	risk	of	a	higher	cost	and	limited	financing	opportunities	when	loans	are	renewed	and	the	risk	that	
payment commitments cannot be met due to a shortage of cash. 
	 The	Prevas	Group’s	interest-bearing	liabilities	consist	of	a	bank	loan	for	SEK	19.25	million	and	financial	lease	liabilities.	The	Group	has	
been	granted	a	bank	overdraft	facility	of	SEK	35	million,	which	can	be	utilized	to	cover	temporary	financing	needs.	The	international	credit	
rating	agency,	D&B	(Dun	&	Bradstreet)	gave	AA	rating	to	the	Prevas	Group,	which	is	a	high	credit	rating.

i n t e R e S t  R A t e  R i S K
Since no investments have been made, the group’s interest rate risk comprises changes in the deposit rate and the lending rate on the 
group’s checking account along with a bank loan. however, Prevas is indirectly affected by the fact that interest rate changes may affect 
customers’ willingness to invest. 
	 Existing	liabilities	consist	of	a	bank	loan	and	financial	liabilities	subject	to	variable	interest	rates	The	maturity	schedule	for	financial	lease	
liabilities	is	specified	in	Notes	19	and	22.

c R e D i t  R i S K
credit risk is made up of the group’s outstanding accounts receivable and non-invoiced work-in-progress. Since customers largely consist 
of	large	and	medium-sized	companies	with	good	solvency,	bad	debt	losses	have	historically	been	insignificant.	In	order	to	reduce	the	risk	of	
credit losses, credit checks are run on all new customers.  new credit checks on existing customer may be made if there is an indication of 
a change in solvency and due to increased risks associated with the existing recession. credit losses for the Prevas group have been low in 
2008.

c U R R e n c y  R i S K
the group is exposed to different types of currency risks. there is a certain exposure related to purchases and sales made in foreign curren-
cies.		Risk	is	related	partly	to	currency	fluctuations	on	financial	instruments,	accounts	payable	and	accounts	receivable.		There	is	also	a	risk	
associated	with	the	expected	or	agreed	upon	cash	flow,	i.e.,	transaction	exposure.	
 currency risk also arises when a subsidiary’s assets and liabilities are translated to the Parent company’s functional currency, i.e., transla-
tion exposure or accounting exposure.  

(i) Transaction exposure
invoicing in amounts other than SeK, DKK or noK make up less that 3 percent of total invoicing for the group. Foreign currency exposure 
has,	in	each	individual	case,	been	determined	to	be	insignificant	and	therefore	hedging	has	been	deemed	unnecessary.	Purchases	in	foreign	
currency occur to a very small extent.

(ii) Translation/accounting exposure
it is group policy to not use hedging in order to mitigate translation exposure for foreign currencies. note 1, accounting principles, net 
investment hedging, explains how this is dealt with for accounting purposes.
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NOTE 23  FINANCIAL RISKS AND FISCAL POLICIES

Held for 

Trading, 

Adjusted to 

Fair Value 

through 

the Income 

Stmnt.

Accounts 

and Loans 

Receiv-

able  

Other  

Liabilities

Total 

Carrying 

Amount Fair Value

Held for 

Trading, 

Adjusted to 

Fair Value 

through 

the Income 

Stmnt.

Accounts 

and Loans 

Receivable  

Other Li-

abilities

Total 

Carrying 

Amount Fair Value

k S E K ,  T h e  P a re n t 

C o m p a n y

2008 2007

long-term Receivables 240 240 240 266 266 266

Accounts Receivable 90,219 90,219 90,219 71,643 71,643 71,643

other Receivables 200 200 200

Total 240 90,219 90,459 90,459 266 71,843 72,109 72,109

liabilities to  
credit institutions 19,250 19,250 19,250 36,099 36,099 36,099

Accounts Payable 15,271 15,271 15,271 13,822 13,822 13,822

Total 34,521 34,521 34,521 49,921 49,921 49,921

A c c o U n t S  R e c e i V A B l e  A n D  A c c o U n t S  PAyA B l e
For accounts receivable and accounts payable with a remaining useful life that is less than six months, it is assumed that the recorded value 
also	reflects	the	fair	value.	Accounts	receivable	and	accounts	payable	with	a	useful	life	exceeding	six	months	were	evaluated	on	2008-12-31	
and 2007-12-31. it was determined that none exist.

Note 22, cont.



T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007 2008 2007

P l e D g e D  A S S e t S
- Pledged Assets for Own Liabilities and Provisions

chattel Mortgages 47,000 47,000 47,000 47,000

c o n t i n g e n t  l i A B i l i t i e S
Surety Bond on Advance Warranties 3,195 4,189 3,195 4,189

Summary of Transactions with Related Parties

Related parties
The	Parent	Company	and	its	subsidiaries	are	considered	to	be	related	parties	(see	note	27).	Furthermore,	close	family	members	are	consid-
ered as related parties to members of the Board and senior executives of the company.
 transactions with related parties are priced according to the prevailing market conditions.

Transactions with key personnel in senior positions
The	Board	of	Directors	and	their	close	family	members	own	27%	of	the	total	voting	power	in	the	company.	As	of	31	December	2008,	
there were no outstanding loans to related parties. Board fees are set and approved at the Annual general Meeting. Salary and incentive 
schemes for the ceo and other senior executives are determined by a remuneration committee appointed by the Board and are approved 
at the Annual general Meeting. See note 4.
	 Senior	managers	also	participate	in	the	Group’s	employee	stock	option	program	(see	note	4).

52

Note 23, cont.

NOTE 24  O P E R A T I N G  L E A S E S

T h e  G r o u p T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007 2008 2007

Maturity within one year 12,470 12,305 10,979 10,232

Maturity in 1-5 years 20,380 5,461 20,152 3,287

Total 32,850 17,766 31,131 13,519

l e A S i n g  A g R e e M e n t S  W h e R e  t h e  c o M P A n y  i S  t h e  l e S S e e
the group’s operating leases are primarily on properties. Future payments on lease agreements that may not be terminated in advance of 
the	maturity	date	are:

NOTE 25  P L E D G E D  A S S E T S ,  C O N T I N G E N T  L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  C O N T I N G E N T  A S S E T S

NOTE 26  RELATED PARTIES

2008 2007

DKK 30,682 25,589

noK 14,143 10,425

it is group policy to not use hedging in order to mitigate translation exposure for foreign currencies. note 1, accounting principles, net 
investment hedging, explains how this is dealt with for accounting purposes.
	 As	of	31	December	2008,	a	10	percent	change	in	the	Swedish	Krona	(SEK)	compared	to	other	currencies	would	result	in	a	change	in	
equity	of	SEK	4.1	(3.3)	million	and	a	change	in	profit	of	SEK	1.1	(0.3)	million.	This	sensitivity	analysis	assumes	that	all	other	factors	remain	
unchanged. the same assumption was made in 2007.
.

T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007

net sales to subsidiaries 4,147 2,396

Purchases from subsidiaries 20,055 3,507

interest income from subsidiaries 52 89

interest expenses from subsidiaries 66 –

liabilities to subsidiaries 10,206 5,823

Receivables from subsidiaries 907 3,529



T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007

At the Beginning of the year 46,047 28,587

Write-Down of Shares in Subsidiaries –10,635 –28,264

Sale of Subsidiary –1,054 –2,840

Acquisition/new Subscriptions 8,899 48,564

Book Value at the End of the Year 43,257 46,047

k S E K
Number of 

Shares
Shares 

in %
2008-12-31

Carring Amount
2007-12-31

Carring Amount

Subsidiary/CIN/Registered Office
Prevas	A/S,	26180287,	Copenhagen	*) 5,000 100 24,982 24,982

Prevas AS, 962118062, oslo 10,000 100 13,042 13,042

Pharmaline AB, 556266-3210, Västerås 3,000 100 620 620

Prevas technology AB, 556655-3326, Stockholm 1,000 100 100 1,600

Avantel AB, 556238-7786, Stockholm 10,000 100 2,753 3,419

Emfila	Software	AB,	556679-1306,	Västerås 1,000 100 1,660 –

APC	Wrapping	i	Nyköping	AB,	556727-4039,	Västerås 1,000 100 100 137

optilution AB, 556657-8992, Västerås – – – 1,429

Glaze	AB,	556620-6404,	Malmö – – – 636

RFhc Realfast hardware consulting AB, 556597-1172, Västerås – – – 182

43,257 46,047
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NOTE 27  GROUP COMPANIES

*)	Prevas	A/S	and	Prevas	Technologies	A/S	are	from	the	31-12-2007	merged.	

T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007

tax Allocation Reserve, tax Assessment 2009 12,750 –

Total 12,750 0

NOTE 28  UNTAXED RESERVES

NOTE 29  CASH FLOW STATEMENT

A c Q U i S i t i o n  o F  S U B S i D i A R i e S  A n D  o t h e R  B U S i n e S S  U n i t S
During	2008,	Emfila	Software	AB	was	acquired	and	additional	purchase	price	payments	were	made	related	to	prior	acquisitions.	The	table	
below shows the value of acquired assets and liabilities, along with their impact on cash equivalents.

T h e  G r o u p

k S E K 2008 2007

A c Q U i R e D  A S S e t S  A n D  l i A B i l i t i e S
intangible Assets 18,935 70,301

Property, Plant and equipment – 1,615

Financial Fixed Assets – 2,031

operating Receivables 3,419 14,296

cash equivalents 537 6,217

Total Assets 22,891 94,460

Deferred tax liabilities –213 –1,273

current operating liabilities –2,121 –29,474

Total Provisions and Liabilities –2,334 –30,747

Purchase Sum 20,557 63,713

Minus:	Non-Cash	Issue –2,485 –29,346

Purchase Sum Paid 18,072 34,367

Minus:	Liquid	Assets	in	the	Acquired	Business –537 –6,217

Effect on Cash Equivalents 17,535 28,150
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Prevas	AB	is	a	Swedish	registered	limited	liability	company	with	registered	office	in	Västerås.	The	Parent	Company’s	shares	are	
listed	on	the	NASDAQ	OMX	Nordic	Exchange,	Stockholm.	The	address	of	the	head	office	is	Box	4,	721	03	Västerås,	street	address	
Klockartorpsgatan	14,	CIN:	556252-1384.	
	 For	2008,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	are	comprised	of	the	Parent	Company	and	its	subsidiaries,	that	together	are	
referred to as the group.

Board of Directors’ Certification
the Board of Directors and ceo assert that the annual report was prepared in accordance with international accounting standards 
(IFRS)	as	required	by	Regulation	(EC)1606/2002	adopted	on	19	July	2002	by	the	European	Parliament	and	the	Council.	Both	the	an-
nual	report	and	consolidated	financial	statements	provide	a	true	and	fair	picture	of	the	earnings	and	financial	position	of	the	Group	
and Parent company. the management reports for both the group and Parent company provide a true and fair summary of the 
business,	earnings	and	financial	position	as	well	as	describing	any	significant	risks	or	uncertainties	faced	by	the	Parent	Company	or	
any of the companies belonging to the group. the consolidated income statement, consolidated balance sheet, Parent company 
income statement and Parent company balance sheet with be brought forth for adoption at the Annual general Meeting on March 
31, 2009.

Stockholm 10 March 2009

Göran	Lundin	 	 	 Claes	Dinkelspiel	 	 Bernt	Ericson	 	 Lisbeth	Gustafsson

Chairman of the Board   Board Member  Board Member  Board Member

erik hallberg   christina liffner  Stieg Westin  Mats lundberg

Board Member   Board Member  Board Member  CEO Prevas AB

jan-olof carlsson   Bo Karlsson

Employee Representative   Employee Representative  

NOTE 31  I N F O R M A T I O N  A B O U T  T H E  P A R E N T  C O M P A N Y

NOTE 30  EVENTS AFTER THE CLOSING DAY  

henrik Møller, cFo of Prevas A/S, was appointed as the new president of Prevas’ Danish subsidiary. henrik Møller started in this new posi-
tion on 27 February 2009, replacing Michael Aoun, who left the company after 6 years of service.
 Michael Aoun decided to leave Prevas in order to pursue new challenges. in conjunction with this decision, he is also no longer a mem-
ber of Prevas’ corporate management team.

T h e  P a re n t  C o m p a n y

k S E K 2008 2007

A c Q U i R e D  A S S e t S  A n D  l i A B i l i t i e S
intangible Assets – 38,679

Property, Plant and equipment 373 1,735

Financial	Fixed	Assets	(Shares	in	Subsidiaries) 8,899 48,564

operating Receivables – 430

Total Assets 9,272 89,408

Provisions – –588

operating liabilities –373 –14,028

Additional Purchase Price 11,845 –11,845

Total Provisions and Liabilities 11,472 –26,461

Purchase Sum 20,744 62,947

Minus:	Non-Cash	Issue 2,485 29,346

Purchase Sum Paid 18,259 33,601

Note 29, cont.

A c Q U i S i t i o n  o F  A S S e t S  A n D  l i A B i l i t i e S  A n D  B U S i n e S S e S

our audit report was submitted March 13, 2009. 

KPMG AB

helena Arvidsson Älgne

                                                                                       Authorized Public Accountant 
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Auditor’s Report
To	the	Annual	General	Meeting	of	Prevas	AB	(publ)

Corporate	Identification	Number:		556252-1384

We have audited the annual accounts, the consolidated accounts, the accounting records and the administration of 

the	Board	of	Directors	and	the	CEO	of	Prevas	AB	(publ.)	for	the	year	2007.	The	company’s	annual	report	is	included	

in the printed version of this document on pages 28-58. these accounts and the administration of the company are 

the responsibility of the Board of Directors and the ceo. they are also responsible for application of the Swedish An-

nual Accounts Act when drawing up the annual accounts and the iFRS international accounting standards as adopted 

by the eU and the Swedish Annual Accounts Act when drawing up the consolidated accounts. our responsibility is to, 

based	on	our	audit,	express	an	opinion	on	the	annual	report,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	the	adminis-

tration of the company.

 the audit has been conducted in accordance with generally Accepted Auditing Standards in Sweden. those stan-

dards	require	that	we	plan	and	perform	the	audit	to	obtain	reasonable,	but	not	absolute,	assurance	that	the	financial	

statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts	and	disclosures	in	the	financial	statements.	An	audit	also	includes	assessing	the	accounting	principles	used	

and their application by the Board of Directors and the ceo, as well as evaluating the important estimates made by 

the	Board	of	Directors	and	the	CEO	when	compiling	the	annual	report	and	consolidated	financial	statements	and	

evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	information	in	the	annual	report	and	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	As	

the	basis	of	our	statement	regarding	discharge	from	liability,	we	examined	significant	decisions,	actions	taken	and	

circumstances of the company in order to be able to determine the possible liability to the company of any Board 

member or the ceo.  We also examined whether any Board member or the ceo has, in any other way, acted in 

contravention of the Swedish companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association. We believe that 

our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion set out below.

 the annual report has been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and consequently provides a 

true	and	fair	picture	of	the	Company’s	earnings	and	financial	position	in	accordance	with	Generally	Accepted	Ac-

counting	Standards	in	Sweden.		The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	compiled	in	accordance	with	the	

international Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the eU and with the Annual Accounts Act and provide a true 

and	fair	picture	of	the	Group’s	earnings	and	financial	position.	The	Management	Report	is	compatible	with	the	other	

parts	of	the	annual	report	and	consolidated	financial	statements.

 We recommend that the Annual general Meeting adopt the income statements and balance sheets of the Parent 

Company	and	the	Group,	that	the	profit	in	the	Parent	Company	be	dealt	with	in	accordance	with	the	proposal	in	the	

Management	Report	and	that	the	members	of	the	Board	and	CEO	be	discharged	from	liability	for	the	fiscal	year.

Stockholm 13 March 2009

KPMg AB

helena Arvidsson Älgne
Authorized Public Accountant

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Corporate governance 2008
Prevas is a Swedish public limited liability company with 
registered	office	in	Västerås.	During	2008,	the	Group	
conducted business in the Scandinavian countries of 
Sweden, Denmark and norway. Prevas shares are listed 
on the nASDAQ oMx nordic exchange Stockholm 
(Stockholmsbörsen).	The	following	provide	the	basis	of	
corporate	governance	for	the	company	and	Group:	the	
Articles of Association, the Annual Accounts Act and
the nASDAQ oMx nordic exchange Stockholm’s rules 
and	regulations,	which,	for	Prevas	(as	of	1	July	2008),	
includes the Swedish code for corporate governance.

intRoDUction
Prevas applies the Swedish code for corporate gover-
nance,	with	the	exception	of	the	following	items	(reasons	
provided):

Deviation from 10.1
the Board of Directors shall set up an audit committee 
consisting of at least three Board members.
 the majority of the audit committee’s members must 
have an independent relationship to the company and 
how it is governed. At least one member of the com-
mittee must have an independent relationship to the 
company’s largest owner. Board members who belong 
to the senior management team may not be members 
of the audit committee. the Board of Directors may per-
form the duties of the audit committee if it determines 
that this would be more appropriate. however, Board 
members who also belong to the senior management 
team may not participate in this work. 

Explanation
Following the 2008 AgM, Prevas’ Board of Directors 
consisted of 7 members. however, it decided to continue 
to let the entire Board perform the duties that would oth-
erwise be the responsibility of an audit committee. the 
reason for this is that it is still possible for the Board to 
handle these activities. in addition, the controls related 
to	financial	reporting	and	information	about	audits	and	
risk management within the company are given the high-
est priority.
 Prevas’ Articles of Association are available at www.
prevas.se.

DeciSion-MAKing BoDieS & RegUlAtionS
Stockholders
information about stockholders and stockholdings is 
available on pages 20-21.

Annual general meeting
According to the Swedish companies Act, the Annual 
General	Meeting	(AGM)	is	the	highest	decision-making	
body where stockholders are able to utilize their voting 
rights. At the AgM, decisions are made regarding the 
annual report, dividends, selection of Board members 
and auditors, remuneration to Board members and 
auditors and other issues in accordance with the Swedish 
companies Act and the Articles of Association.

Election committee
the election committee is responsible for nominating 
members to Prevas’ Board of Directors. these proposed 
individuals are then presented at the AgM. the election 
committee begins by evaluating the performance of the 
existing Board of Directors. When nominating members 
to the next Board of Directors, the election committee 
gives consideration to the strategic competence, educa-
tion and any other Board work performed by potential 
members. the election committee also gathers input 
from the major owners of the company. At the AgM, the 
election committee submits its remuneration proposal 
for Board members. the election committee also makes 
a proposal regarding which auditor to select.

Election committee for the 2009 AGM
the election committee for the AgM held on 31 March 
2009	consists	of	the	following	individuals:	Göran	Lundin,	
Anders	Hallqvist	(external),	Claes	Dinkelspiel	and	Jan	
Karlsson	(external	and	also	serving	as	chairman).	The	
election committee is responsible for making the follow-
ing	suggestions:	a	chairman	for	the	AGM,	Board	mem-
bers and chairman of the Board, the number of auditors/
choice of auditor and how the election committee for the 
2010 AgM shall be appointed, along with its tasks.

The Board of Directors
Prevas’ Board of Directors and chairman of the Board 
are appointed by the AgM. the Board of Directors 
establishes Prevas’ strategy and goals,ensures that the 
business is effectively evaluated and monitors how the 

Corporate governance at Prevas

Audit 

Election 
Committee

Compensation 
Committee

Annual 
General Meeting

Board of Directors
Corporate 

Management TeamCEOShareholders

This report has not been examined by the Company’s auditors.
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company	develops,	as	well	as	its	financial	situation.	Dur-
ing 2008, the Board consisted of seven members. More 
information about these individuals is available on page 
60.
	 During	the	2008	financial	year,	the	Board	of	Directors	
met eight times. the minutes for each of these meetings 
were kept. Average attendance at these meetings was 
84 percent and each meeting lasted an average of three 
hours. During the year, representatives from the corpo-
rate management team and other management person-
nel regularly participated in Board meetings in order to 
present information on topics within each of their respec-
tive areas.
 the Board of Directors is also responsible for acqui-
sitions and divestments, major investments, appoint-
ing members of the corporate management team and 
remuneration to the corporate management team. the 
Board of Directors also approves the business plan and 
annual	financial	statements,	as	well	as	monitoring	the	
work performed by the ceo.

Board members selected by the AGM

The Board’s formal work plan
the Board of Directors has not assigned any particular 
areas	of	responsibility	to	specific	Board	members.	In	ad-
dition to the allocation of responsibilities that generally 
applies as per the Annual Accounts Act, Articles of As-
sociation and Swedish code of corporate governance, 
the Board’s work is also regulated by its own formal work 
plan, which, among other things, stipulates that the 
Board	shall:
•		 Hold	at	least	5	regular	meetings,	in	addition	to	the 
	 first	meeting	following	its	election
•		 Establish	the	overall	goals	for	the	company’s	business 
 and decide on the company’s strategy
•		 Approve	the	budget	and	corresponding	long-term 
 plans, including an investment budget
•		 Deal	with	issues	concerning	investments	and	similar 
 issues for amounts exceeding SeK 5 million, unless 
 such issues have already been dealt with in the ap- 
 proved investment budget
•		 Make	decisions	regarding	the	acquisition	of	real 
 estate, shares or the acquisition of another company’s 
 operations

•		 Make	decisions	regarding	the	formation	and	capital- 
 ization of new subsidiaries
•		 Appoint	a	remuneration	committee,	which	is	respon-	
 sible for establishing remuneration principles for the 
 ceo and other senior executives, within the boundar- 
 ies set by the AgM.
•		 Approve	the	annual	report,	management	report	and 
 interim reports

At each regular Board meeting, the following items shall 
be	discussed:
•		 A	report	on	the	company’s	business	activities,	includ- 
 ing treasury management 
•		 A	report	on	any	extraordinary	measures	taken	or 
 events that have occurred since the last Board meet- 
 ing 
•		 How	on-going	major	projects	are	developing	and 
 anticipated business events
•		 A	report	on	existing	or	potential	disputes	that	could	 
	 have	a	significant	impact	on	the	company’s	business 
 activities

Important decisions during the year
During 2008, the Board made decisions regarding plans 
and company strategy, as well as regularly monitoring 
the	business	and	adopting	the	interim	financial	state-
ments and full-year reports. in addition, it made impor-
tant	decisions	about	the	following:
•		 Acquisition	of	Emfila	Software	AB
•		 Equity	structure
•		 Issues	concerning	the	organization	and	planning	for 
 leadership continuity

Remuneration to the Board of Directors
Remuneration to the Board of Directors is established at 
the AgM and it is paid to Board members who are not 
employees of the company. Prevas does not have any 
SIPs	(stock	incentive	plans)	for	Board	members	who	are	
not employees of the company. the fees for each Board 
member are show in the table on page 42.

Remuneration committee
the Board’s overall responsibilities may not be delegat-
ed. however, the Board has established a remuneration 
committee to review the salary, remuneration and other 
employment terms for the ceo and corporate manage-
ment team, as well bonuses that are paid to key individu-
als in the group. the remuneration committee consists 
of	the	following	individuals:		Stieg	Westin,	Bernt	Ericson	
and	Göran	Lundin.	Reports	are	submitted	to	the	Board	
regularly.
 Prevas is a relatively small listed company. For this rea-
son, it does not have a special audit committee. instead, 
all of the Board members execute the tasks that would 
otherwise be performed by an audit committee.

This report has not been examined by the Company’s auditors.

A t t e n D A n c e 

i n  2 0 0 8
Board 

Meetings 
compensation

committee

Göran	Lundin,	charman 8/8 4/4
Stieg Westin 8/8 4/4
Bernt ericson 7/8 4/4
lisbeth gustafsson 6/8
erik hallberg 7/8
christina liffner 5/8
claes Dinkelspiel 6/8
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CEO and corporate management team
the ceo is appointed by the Board. the ceo is re-
sponsible for the on-going administration of company in 
accordance with the guidelines and instructions that are 
found in applicable laws, the Articles of Association and 
company-internal work instructions. on-going adminis-
tration of the company includes all measures that, given 
the scope and type of the company’s activities, are not 
of	an	extraordinary	nature	or	of	significant	importance,	
or	tasks	that	have	been	specifically	designated	as	the	
responsibility of the Board. Mats lundberg has been the 
President and ceo of Prevas since 1 December 2007. he
was born in 1961 and altogether, he has 23 years of 
managerial	experience	in	consulting	firms.		After	receiv-
ing a degree in electrical engineering from the Royal 
Institute	of	Technology	(KTH),	Mats	Lundberg	worked	10	
years developing complex products at various com-
panies. For 13 years, he concentrated on starting and 
developing companies as an entrepreneur and business 
executive. During this time, there was considerable focus 
on	growth,	profitability	and	change	initiatives.
 the ceo heads up the work of the corporate man-
agement team and makes decisions in consultation 
with the other members of management. the group 
management team meets 1-2 days each month. these 
meetings	are	typically	held	at	the	Prevas	office	in	Solna.	
each year, the group management team establishes a 
business plan, which is monitored via monthly reports in 
terms	of	profitability,	cost	control	and	cash	flow.
 the group management team consists of the ceo, 
cFo, Business Area Managers, company Presidents and 
Senior Vice Presidents of Product/Business Development 
(6	persons	in	total).

Financial statements and information
Prevas regularly provides the market with information 
about	company	developments	and	its	financial	position.	
this information is regularly provided in the following 
forms:
•		 Interim	reports
•		 Prevas’	Annual	Report
•		 Press	releases	about	news	and	events	that	may	signifi- 
 cantly impact the estimated value of the company and 
 its future prospects. Prevas’ policy is to make public 
 any orders it receives of strategic value.
•		 Presentation	for	financial	analysts,	investors	and	the 
 media
•		 All	of	the	information	described	above	is	available	on 
	 the	Prevas	website:	www.prevas.se

the BoARD’S DeScRiPtion oF the inteRnAl 

contRol SySteM
According to the revised code of corporate gover-
nance, which came into effect on 1 july 2008, each year, 
the Board must submit a description of the most impor-
tant features of the company’s internal control system 
related	to	the	financial	statements.

Control environment
the control environment provides the basis for internal 
control.	The	control	environment	helps	define	the	work-
ing	culture	at	Prevas	by	defining	the	norms	and	guide-
lines for the company’s actions. in practice, the control 
environment consists of documented guidelines, manu-
als and instructions that are communicated throughout 
the organization.
 the Prevas Quality System is a comprehensive direc-
tive that is aimed at getting all employees to understand 
and act in accordance with the organization’s respon-
sibilities in terms of such things as how projects are 
executed. the Prevas Quality System also consists of a 
series of other documenting directives. Among other 
things,	this	includes	establishing	a	finance	and	account-
ing handbook containing policies for accounting and 
financial	management,	as	well	as	an	information	policy.
 Prevas maintains a quality system, which includes 
routines, instructions and templates for relevant pro-
cesses. Prevas continually works to develop and improve 
its	quality	and	processes	in	order	to	fulfill	the	require-
ments that customers, suppliers and employees place on 
consulting companies.
 it has a transparent organizational structure, with de-
fined	roles	and	responsibilities	which	are	communicated	
via documented work instructions to the Board, Board 
committees, ceo and all managers within the group. 
Within the organization, regular evaluations are conduct-
ed at both functional and departmental levels in order 
to ensure that there is adequate knowledge regarding 
financial	reporting	within	the	organization.

Information and communication
The	most	important	control	documents	related	to	finan-
cial reporting are continually updated and communi-
cated to relevant employees via the company’s intranet, 
information letters, regularly held meetings, etc. informa-
tion channels are established in order to communicate 
with the employees concerned within the organization 
as	efficiently	as	possible.	Prevas	also	has	an	information	
policy regarding both company-internal and external 
communication.

Risk assessment
the goal of risk assessment is to identify areas of high 
risk within the business and evaluate which controls 
are required in order to manage such risks. Risk assess-
ment is conducted by assessing the level of risk from 
both qualitative and quantitative starting points, at the 
account level and for whatever processes are involved. A 
risk assessment is made during the strategic and opera-
tional planning processes, which is when risk areas are 
addressed and relevant measures are designed to ensure 
that	the	identified	risks	are	properly	managed.	At	Prevas,	
project execution is a critical process and assessments 
of	the	level	of	completion	for	fixed-price	projects	have	a	
direct	impact	on	financial	reporting.	Special	guidelines	
have been developed for assessing the risks associated 
with	specific	customer	projects.

This report has not been examined by the Company’s auditors.
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 Prevas is also highly dependent on it, in part for its 
own	business	activities	and	in	part	for	financial	reporting.	
In	order	to	counteract	these	risks,	there	are	specific	poli-
cies and guidelines for the general it environment.

Control activities
the control structure has been designed to manage 
those risks that the Board and senior management team 
consider	to	be	significant	the	company’s	operations,	
observance	of	laws	and	regulations	and	for	financial	re-
porting.	Defined	decision	procedures,	including	authori-
zation instructions 
have been established for investments and for the sign-
ing of agreements, for example.
 Wherever it is appropriate, automatic controls have 
been	established	which	are	specifically	related	to	finan-
cial reporting. the majority of all control activities have 
been integrated into the company’s key processes, such 
as order entry, revenue recognition, investments, sup-
plier contracts and purchasing.
 A special function has been established called the 
”Project	Office”	to	ensure	that	the	risks	associated	with	
customer	projects	are	identified	and	dealt	with.	The	
Project	Office	is	also	responsible	for	making	sure	that	
this	is	properly	reflected	in	the	financial	statements.	The	
Project	Office	regularly	exercises	controls	to	ensure	that	
customer projects are run in accordance with the Prevas 
quality	system,	both	in	terms	of	execution	and	financial	
follow-up.
 the it structure has been designed to manage po-
tential it related risks by establishing controls in the it 
system that are related to the processes which have an 
impact	on	financial	reporting.

Follow up
each manager is responsible for making sure that there 
are adequate internal controls in place within each unit. 
controllers are responsible for making sure that the units 
follow	the	Group’s	directive	for	financial	reporting.
 the Prevas Quality System function plays a key role in 
the follow-up process. in addition, it conducts systematic 
internal audits related to the quality system. Further-
more, the internal control structure is reviewed by sepa-
rate,	decentralized	functions	within	the	Project	Office.	As	
part of its efforts to continually develop the company’s it 
environment, a web-based business information system 
will be implemented in 2009 in order to make follow-up 
efforts even more effective.
 the Board is of the opinion that the Prevas Quality 
System, along with the separate controls and follow-up 
activities	conducted	by	the	Project	Office,	are	adequate	
for	dealing	with	the	company’s	significant	risk	areas.	At	
present, the Board sees no reason for establishing a 
separate internal auditing function.

ReSPonSiBle BUSineSS oPeRAtionS

Prevas’ company culture
the acronym ”B.o.A.t.” is used to represent Prevas’ 
basic values. it stands for Business driven, open-minded, 

Accountability and team Spirit. All of Prevas’ employees 
and partners are expected to follow these basic prin-
ciples as they go about their daily work. the basic values 
further build upon the principles formulated in Prevas’ 
vision and business concept. they are an important as-
pect of efforts to create a strong, well-reputed brand that 
supports a long-term, sustainable market presence and 
growth.  More information about B.o.A.t. is available at  
www.prevas.se.

The Prevas Quality System in practice
Prevas strives to make sure that the Prevas Quality Sys-
tem is not simply a static document. Rather, it should be 
a natural part of the daily efforts of everyone who works 
at,	or	comes	into	contact	with	Prevas.	During	the	finan-
cial year, Prevas has continued to regularly review the 
various processes which form the foundation for instruc-
tions, processes and guidelines along with related issues 
of a local nature in the different portions of the organiza-
tion. Prevas intends to continue training efforts at the 
various units within the organization in order to ensure 
that local managers remain updated and actively work 
with employees on issues related to the quality system.

Environmental responsibilities
Prevas strives to be an environmentally responsible 
organization that conforms to all laws and regulations 
relevant to its business units. Prevas’ goal is to con-
tinue to limit the impact of its business activities on the 
environment. this goal is part of its effort to contribute 
to a sustainable society. it is also an important element in 
remaining competitive.
 Prevas continues to develop technical solutions 
through an environmentally conscious design process 
which ensures conformance to legal requirements and 
helps reduce the environmental effects of its products 
- from manufacturing, distribution, installation, usage 
and maintenance, all the way to the end of the product 
lifecycle.

This report has not been examined by the Company’s auditors.
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Prevas’ Board of Directors

Göran	Lundin, Västerås, born 1944.

chairman of the Board since 2000 and member of the Board since 

1985. 

Other	engagements:	Chairman	of	the	Board	at	MPA	Måleriproduk-

tion,	Samsari	and	Radscan.	Membership	include:	IVA,	Västmanlands	

FoU-råd, Råbe industrikonsult, StyrelseAkademien Mälardalen and 

others.	Holding	in	Prevas	AB	(incl.	family):	150,000	Class	A	shares	

and 2,550,540 class B shares.

claes Dinkelspiel, Stockholm, born 1941.

Chairman	of	the	Board	E.	Öhman	J:or	AB.	

Member of the Board since 2000.

Other	engagements:	Chairman	of	the	Board	at	Nordnet,	MPS	

Holding,	Småföretagsinvest,	Stockholms	Köpmanklubb,	and	others.	

Membership	include:	FBN	Sweden,	Intellecta,	Stiftelsen	Silviahem-

met, and others.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB:	8,500	Class	B	shares.

Bernt ericson, Stockholm, born 1945.

honorary Doctor of Uppsala University. Former Vice President erics-

son. 

Member of the Board since 2000.

Other	engagements:	Chairman	of	the	Board	at	Innovation	Impact	

AB, World internet institute and Stiftelsen chester carlson Fund. 

Membership	include:	SICS,	strange_ways	AB	and	IVA.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB:	1,600	Class	B	shares.

lisbeth gustafsson, Stockholm, born 1947.

Member of the Board since 2000.

Other	engagements:	Board	member	of	Axel	Johnson	International,	 

entraction, Karolinska Universitetssjukhuset, nocom, Svensk handel 

and SySteam.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB:	1,630	Class	B	shares.

erik hallberg, Stockholm, born 1956.

Senior Vice President and head of Market Area Mobility Services, 

teliaSonera Sweden. 

Member of the Board since 1999.

Other	engagements:	Board	member	of	Cygate	and	Gjensidige	

Sweden. 

christina liffner, Västerås, born 1950.

Member of the Board since 2005.

Other	engagements:	Chairman	of	the	Board	at	Svensk	Adressän-

dring	and	Svenska	Endometriosföreningen.	Vice	Chairman	of	Svensk	

Exportkredit.	Membership	include:	Länsförsäkringar	Bergslagen,	SJR	

in Scandinavia, Sveaskog, and others.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB	(incl.	family):	1,500	Class	B	shares.	

Stieg Westin, Skövde,	born	1938.
Former Vice President of Volvo lastvagnar AB. 

Member of the Board since 1986.

holding in	Prevas	AB	(incl.	company:	64,000	class A shares och 

49,000 class B shares.

Ulrika	Grönberg, Västerås, born 1972.

Business consultant, Swedbank. Deputy Board Member  since 2007.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB:	397	000	Class	B	shares.

jan-olof carlsson, Västerås, born 1954.

employee representative since 2005.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB:	200	Class	B	shares	and	1,500	employee	stock	

options.

Bo Karlsson, Västerås, born 1959.

employee representative since 2008.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB:	100	Class	B	shares.

Göran	Lundin claes Dinkelspiel

Ulrika	Grönberg

Bernt ericson lisbeth gustafsson erik hallberg

christina liffner Stieg Westin jan-olof carlsson Bo Karlsson
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KPMG AB
Helena Arvidsson Älgne 
chief Auditor, 

Stockholm, born 1962. Authorized Public Accountant KPMg.

Auditor for Prevas AB since 2006.

Prevas’ Corporate Management Team

Auditor

Björn	Andersson
Västerås, born 1957. 

Business Development.

Education:	Master	of	Engineering.	

employed since 1985.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB:	100,000	Class	A	

shares, 232,000 class B shares. 

Mats lundberg
Stockholm, born 1961. 

ceo Prevas AB and Business Unit Man-

ager for Product Development.

Education:	Master	of	Engineering.	

employed since 2005.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB:	

47,653 class B shares. 

Anders Malmby
Linköping,	born	1966.	

head of Product Development in 

Sweden.

Education:	Engineer.	

employed since 2000.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB:	13	Class	B	shares	

jonas Mann
Stockholm, born 1969. 

Sales and Marketing Manager.

Education:	Master	of	Engineering.	

employed since 2007.

christer Ramebäck
gothenburg, born 1956. 

Business Unit Manager for industrial 

Systems.

Education:	Master	of	Engineering.	

employed since 2007.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB:	

24,500 class B shares.

Mats	Åström
Västerås, born 1965. cFo Prevas AB.

Education:	Master	of	Economics.	

employed since 2007.

Holding	in	Prevas	AB:	

15,000 class B shares. 

BOARD CORPORATE MANAGEMENT TEAM AND AUDITOR



ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The	Annual	General	Meeting	will	be	held	at	5:30	PM	

on Monday, March 31, 2009 at the Aros congress 

center, sal 302, Munkgatan 7, Västerås, Sweden.

REGISTRATION 

Registration to take part in the Annual general Meet-

ing	by	contacting	any	of	the	following:

•		 Prevas	AB,	Box	4,	SE-721	03	Västerås

•		 by	telephone	+46	21-360	19	00,	 

 by fax +46 21-360 19 29

•		 via	e-mail	arsstamma@prevas.se

 When registering, stockholders must provide 

their	name,	personal	identification	number	(corpo-

rate	identification	number),	address	and	telephone	

number. When participation is requested based on the 

power	of	attorney,	certificate	of	registration	or	other	

qualifying	certifications,	such	documentation	should	

be submitted to the company well in advance of the 

Annual general Meeting. Such information will only be 

used for the purpose of the Annual general Meeting.

RIGHT TO PARTICIPATE

in order to participate and vote, the stockholder must 

meet	both	of	the	following	requirements:

Included	in	the	Euroclear	Sweden	AB	(former	VPC	

AB)	register	of	shareholders	on	March	25,	2009.	Reg-

istered	at	the	company	no	later	than	12:00	PM	on		26	

March 2009.

 For nominee shareholders, the shares must tem-

porarily be registered in the shreholder´s own namn. 

Such registration must be completed no later than 25 

March 2009. 

DIVIDENDS

the Board proposes a dividend of SeK 1,50 per share 

(prior	year	SEK	0,60)	for	fiscal	year	2008.	The	record	

date for the dividend is suggested as Freday, April 3, 

2009. the dividend is expected to be distributed via 

VPc on April 8, 2009. 

Stockholders Information
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

For	the	financial	year	2009,	financial	reports	are	scheduled	as	follows:

•		 28	April	2009:		Interim	Report	January	-	March			

•		 17	July	2009:		Interim	Report	January	-	June		

•		 23	October	2009:		Interim	Report	January	-	September

•		 5	February	2010:		Year-End	Report	

•		 March	2010:		Annual	General	Meeting

Prevas Financial Statements can be downloaded by visiting www.prevas.se or ordered from Prevas AB, 

Information	Department,	Box	4,	SE-721	03	Västerås,	e-mail:	info@prevas.se.

CONTACT

helena lundin

information Manager Prevas AB

tel. +46 21-360 19 20

E-mail:	helena.lundin@prevas.se
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GOTHENBURG

Gruvgatan	14,	SE-421	30	Västra	Frölunda

tel. +46 31-733 51 00, Fax +46 31-733 53 99

HELSINGBORG

järnvägsgatan 10A, Se-252 78 helsingborg

KARLSTAD

Box 1909, Se-651 19 Karlstad, Regementsgatan 21 B

tel. +46 54-14 74 00, Fax +46 54-14 74 99

LINKÖPING

Wallenbergs	gata	4,	SE-583	35	Linköping

tel. +46 13-32 86 00, Fax +46 13-32 86 99

LUND

ideon Science Park, Se-223 70 lund, Scheelevägen 17

tel. +46 46-286 49 60

MALMÖ

Södra	Tullgatan	4,	SE-211	40	Malmö

tel. +46 40-691 95 00, Fax +46 40-691 95 49

STOCKHOLM

Box 6090, Se-171 06 Solna, torggatan 15

tel. +46 8-726 40 00, Fax +46 8-726 40 01

STOCKHOLM

Box 4617, Se-116 91 Stockholm, Kapellgränd 3, 

tel. +46 8-644 14 00, Fax +46 8-644 25 25

STOCKHOLM

Knarrarnäsgatan 7, Kista entré, Se-164 40 Kista 

tel. +46 8-726 40 00, Fax +46 8-726 40 01

UPPSALA

Kungsgatan 64, Se-753 18 Uppsala

tel. +46 18-56 27 00, Fax +46 18-56 27 19

VÄSTERÅS (Head Office)

Box 4, Se-721 03 Västerås, legeringsgatan 18

tel. +46 21-360 19 00, Fax +46 21-360 19 29

KÖPENHAMN

Frederikskaj 6, DK-2450 København SV 

tel. +45 33 15 90 90, Fax +45 33 15 90 96

ÅRHUS

gåseagervej 6, DK-8250 egå 

tel. +45 87 43 80 70, Fax +45 87 43 80 79 

OSLO

Vitaminveien 11a, n-0485 oslo

tel. +47 22 79 70 00, Fax +47 22 79 70 10  

Offices and Locations

INVESTOR/STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION AND ADDRESSES



Prevas	AB	(publ),	CIN	556252-1384

Box	4,	(Legeringsgatan	18),	SE-721	03	Västerås

Tel.	+46	21-360	19	00,	info@prevas.se

Prevas was founded in 1985 and is currently the nordic leader for embedded systems and industrial it. We are the primary 

supplier and innovative development partner to the leading Swedish companies in industries such as life science, telecom-

munications, vehicle, defense, energy and engineering. Prevas’ foundation is based on developing intelligence in products 

and industrial systems for world-leading companies.  Prevas’ solutions are renowned for innovation, quality assurance and 

reliable	delivery.	Our	Nordic	design	house	consists	of	nearly	600	employees	and	we	have	offices	in	Sweden,	Denmark	and	

norway. Prevas has been listed on the nASDAQ oMx nordic exchange in Stockholm since 1998. 

For more information, www.prevas.com.


